CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND MEMORY IN OLDER ADULTS

INVESTIGATING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND MEMORY IN OLDER ADULTS

By ALEXIS BULLOCK

B. Sc. Honours Biochemistry

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Alexis Bullock, August 2019

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2019) (Kinesiology) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Investigating the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory in older adults

AUTHOR: Alexis Bullock, B.Sc. Honours Biochemistry (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Jennifer Heisz, Ph.D.

NUMBER OF PAGES: x, 71

ABSTRACT

Aging is associated with cognitive decline in various domains, including memory. The age-related increase in systemic inflammation has been identified as a potential mechanism contributing to these memory impairments. Specifically, elevated inflammation may impair neurotrophic factor production and function, which is important for maintaining brain health. Physical activity has been identified as a potential strategy for preventing or delaying memory decline, given its ability to reduce inflammation and stimulate neurotrophic factor expression. The present study investigated the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, a proxy for habitual physical activity, and memory in older adults. Inflammation and neurotrophic factors were examined as potential mechanisms mediating this relationship. Sixty-five community dwelling older adults ($M_{age} = 70.6 \pm 4.0$) completed the Rockport 1-mile walk test to predict their cardiorespiratory fitness, as well as the Mnemonic Similarity Task to assess memory. Serum samples were collected to examine inflammatory markers, including interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-1beta (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), and C-reactive protein (CRP), as well as neurotrophic factors, including brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). No relationship was found between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory (p > .05). However, older adults with greater cardiorespiratory fitness had lower levels of IL-6 (p < .01) and TNF- α (p < .01) and trended towards higher levels of BDNF (p = .078). Furthermore, IL-6 was negatively correlated with IGF-1 ($p \le .01$), suggesting higher inflammation may impair IGF-1 production. Contrary to our hypotheses, sequential mediation analyses revealed no indirect effect of inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors on the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory. Our results suggest that cardiorespiratory fitness may promote favourable changes in inflammatory markers and

neurotrophic factors, which—given previous literature—could help to support brain health with advancing age. More research is needed to further examine the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Jennifer Heisz. I feel tremendous gratitude for your constant support and guidance throughout this process. Thank you for providing me with countless opportunities to grow and learn. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Audrey Hicks and Dr. Dawn Bowdish. Your feedback and encouragement throughout this thesis project has been invaluable.

Thank you to all of the members of the NeuroFit lab, both past and present, who have provided me with tremendous help and guidance over the past two years. I could not have completed this project with you. Thank you to my friends within the Department of Kinesiology for supporting me throughout this journey and for making the past two years so enjoyable (and of course, for being my spin/fitness instructors). I am so grateful to have met each and every one of you.

Lastly, thank you to my friends and family, for always believing in me and encouraging me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>SECTION</u>	PAGE
TITLE PAGE	ii
DESCRIPTIVE NOTE	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
DECLARACTIONS OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT	Х
INTRODUCTION	1
Aging and memory	2
Inflammaging and brain health	4
Physical activity and memory	7
Potential mechanisms underlying the relationship between physical activity	10
and memory	
Purpose	15
Hypotheses	16
METHODS	16
Participants	16
Materials	17
Procedure	21
Statistical analysis	22
RESULTS	23
Data screening and assumptions	23
Descriptive characteristics	24
Partial correlations	24
Sequential mediation analysis	25
DISCUSSION	25
Cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory	26
Potential mechanisms: inflammation and neurotrophic factors	27
Strengths and limitations	32
Future directions	34
Conclusions	35
REFERENCES	45

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

FIGURES

Figure 1. Potential mechanisms underlying age-related memory decline	36
Figure 2. Potential mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of physical activity	36
on memory	
Figure 3. The association between predicted VO ₂ peak and high-interference memory	37
Figure 4. The association between predicted VO ₂ peak and IL-6	37
Figure 5. The association between predicted VO ₂ peak and TNF- α	38
Figure 6. The association between predicted VO ₂ peak and BDNF	38
Figure 7. The association between IGF-1 and IL-6	39
Figure 8. Sequential mediation models exploring the relationship between	40
cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory	

TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics for study sample	42
Table 2. Mean values for cardiorespiratory fitness, memory, and biomarkers	42
Table 3. Correlations between cardiorespiratory fitness, memory, and biomarkers	43
Table 4. Indirect effect of cardiorespiratory fitness on high-interference memory	44

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
CBV	Cerebral blood volume
CRP	C-reactive protein
DG	Dentate gyrus
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging
HIIT	High-intensity interval training
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IL-1β	Interleukin-1-beta
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MCAR	Missing completely at random
MICT	Moderate-intensity continuous training
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MST	Mnemonic Similarity Task
TNF-α	Tumour-necrosis factor-alpha
VO ₂ peak	Peak oxygen uptake

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Alexis Bullock's role:

- Amended ethics application
- Designed study protocol and selected measures
- Recruited participants
- Scheduled visits and set up lab equipment and materials
- Trained and supervised undergraduate students who assisted with data collection
- Led data collection, analysis, and interpretation
- Prepared manuscript

Role of co-authors:

- JH obtained study funding
- JH assisted AB with ethics amendment
- JH assisted AB with study design and selection of measures
- JH assisted AB with data analysis and interpretation

INTRODUCTION

Aging is associated with declines in various domains of cognitive function, including memory, which can negatively impact quality of life and one's ability to live independently (Desai, Grossberg, & Chibnall, 2010). The low-grade systemic inflammation that occurs with advancing age, a phenomenon termed inflammaging, has been identified as a potential mechanism contributing to cognitive decline (Di Benedetto, Müller, Wenger, Düzel, & Pawelec, 2017; Ownby, 2010). Indeed, heightened levels of inflammation impair the production and function of neurotrophic factors, which are intimately involved in promoting cognitive function (Cotman, Berchtold, & Christie, 2007). Physical activity, which is any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscle that results in energy expenditure, is a promising modifiable lifestyle factor capable of preventing or delaying this age-related cognitive decline (Caspersen, Powell, & Christenson, 1985; Etnier, Drollette, & Slutsky, 2018). Physical activity reduces inflammation and enhances neurotrophic factor levels, both of which are important for maintaining brain health (Cotman et al., 2007). The beneficial effects of physical activity on cognition are thought to be mediated by gains in cardiorespiratory fitness, which represents the ability of the circulatory and respiratory systems to supply oxygen during physical activity (Caspersen et al., 1985; Colcombe & Kramer, 2003; Kramer et al., 1999; McAuley, Kramer, & Colcombe, 2004). Given the impact of age-related cognitive decline on quality of life, the present study examined the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory in a sample of community-dwelling healthy older adults and explored inflammation and neurotrophic factors as potential mechanisms underlying this relationship.

This introduction provides an overview of 1) aging and memory, 2) inflammaging and brain health, 3) physical activity and memory, and 4) potential mechanisms underlying the relationship between physical activity and memory.

Aging and memory

With age, specific aspects of memory exhibit greater decline than others (Harada, Natelson Love, & Triebel, 2013). There are two main categories of memory: declarative and non-declarative (Tulving, 1972). Declarative memory involves the conscious recollection of facts and events, whereas non-declarative memory is acquired and used unconsciously (Harada et al., 2013; Tulving, 1972). Aging primarily affects episodic memory, a form of declarative memory that involves the recollection of autobiographical or personal events that occur at a specific place and time (Harada et al., 2013). The decline in episodic memory begins in early adulthood and continues until age 60, after which the magnitude of decline accelerates to four times greater than those under the age of 60 (Salthouse, 2009). Since increasing age is the greatest risk factor for developing Alzheimer's disease, a condition that is marked by a substantial reduction in episodic memory (Lindsay et al., 2002), it is imperative to investigate strategies capable of mitigating the rate of decline that occurs with advancing age.

Episodic memory is highly reliant on the hippocampus, a brain region located in the medial temporal lobe (Burgess, Maguire, & O'Keefe, 2002; Squire, 1992; Vargha-Khadem et al., 1997). The hippocampus is composed of three subfields—the dentate gyrus (DG), area CA3, and area CA1—which each support different memory processes (Amaral & Witter, 1989; Olsen, Moses, Riggs, & Ryan, 2012). The DG is involved in pattern separation, a computational process whereby similar memories are encoded as distinct, non-overlapping representations (Kesner & Rolls, 2015; Leutgeb, Leutgeb, Moser, & Moser, 2007; McHugh et al., 2007). Area CA3 is

primarily involved in retrieving complete memory representations from partial or degraded cues, a computational process termed pattern completion (Nakazawa et al., 2002, 2003), while area CA1 is involved in encoding memories (Nakazawa, McHugh, Wilson, & Tonegawa, 2004). Information first enters the hippocampus from the entorhinal cortex, which projects to the DG via the perforant path (Amaral & Witter, 1989; Voss et al., 2019). The entorhinal cortex contains fewer neurons than the DG and this projection from a smaller to larger number of neurons is thought to facilitate pattern separation processes (Myers & Scharfman, 2011; Treves & Rolls, 1992; Voss et al., 2019). From the DG, information is sent to area CA3, and finally area CA1, forming the trisynaptic hippocampal circuit (Amaral & Witter, 1989; Voss et al., 2019).

The behavioural expression of pattern separation is high-interference memory, which is the ability to discriminate between highly similar contexts and experiences (Heisz et al., 2017; Yassa & Stark, 2011), and is a crucial component of the episodic memory system. For example, high-interference memory allows an individual to differentiate their car from another car of the same make and model in a parking lot, or to accurately recall whether they took their medication today or yesterday. Evidence for the role of the DG in high-interference memory has come from rodent studies that lesion hippocampal subfields. Specifically, rats with lesions to the DG, but not area CA1, are impaired in their ability to distinguish between two similar objects (Gilbert, Kesner, & Lee, 2001). In humans, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) has revealed elevated activity in the DG/CA3 region during performance on high-interference memory tasks (Bakker, Kirwan, Miller, & Stark, 2008; Lacy, Yassa, Stark, Muftuler, & Stark, 2011; Yassa, Lacy, et al., 2011). While it is difficult to distinguish between the DG and CA3 regions due to spatial limitations with fMRI, its possible that the increased activation in both of these hippocampal subregions may reflect information being projected from the DG to the CA3 (Voss et al., 2019), forming the first component of the trisynaptic hippocampal circuit.

One unique property of the DG is that new neurons are continuously produced here throughout the lifespan, a process termed neurogenesis (Boldrini et al., 2018; Eriksson et al., 1998). These newborn cells are thought to contribute to the process of pattern separation by encoding novel stimuli and reducing interference between highly similar items (Becker, 2017; Finnegan & Becker, 2015). However, the DG, as well as the CA3 and perforant path, exhibit structural and functional deficits with advancing age (Yassa, Mattfeld, Stark, & Stark, 2011). Altogether, the hippocampus experiences a volume loss of 1-2% per year in healthy older adults without dementia (Raz et al., 2005). These structural changes are of clinical importance given that hippocampal volume is associated with memory performance in older adults (Rosen et al., 2003) and that hippocampal atrophy increases the risk of developing cognitive impairment (Jack et al., 2010). Mirroring these structural changes is an age-related decline in hippocampal neurogenesis in rodents (Kuhn, Dickinson-Anson, & Gage, 1996) and humans (Spalding et al., 2013). The impaired integrity of these brain regions in older adults manifests at the behavioural level as reduced high-interference memory performance (Bullock, Mizzi, Kovacevic, & Heisz, 2018; Stark, Yassa, Lacy, & Stark, 2013; Toner, Pirogovsky, Kirwan, & Gilbert, 2009). Therefore, interventions capable of stimulating the hippocampus, and more specifically the DG, may be able to mitigate this age-related decline in high-interference memory.

Inflammaging and brain health

Accompanying the age-related deterioration of the memory system is dysfunction of the immune system. With age, the immune system undergoes several modifications, a process referred to as immunosenescence (Gruver, Hudson, & Sempowski, 2007), which increases the

susceptibility to infection and auto-immune disorders, as well as decreases vaccine efficacy (Effros, 2007; McElhaney, 2005). Accompanying immunosenescence are elevated levels of circulating inflammatory markers, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-1-beta (IL-1 β), tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), and C-Reactive Protein (CRP), which produce chronic low-grade (i.e., low level) inflammation (Franceschi et al., 2000). This phenomenon, termed inflammaging, is a major risk factor for morbidity and mortality in older adults (Franceschi et al., 2000), and serves as a potential mechanism contributing to cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease (Figure 1) (Di Benedetto et al., 2017; Goldeck, Witkowski, Fülop, & Pawelec, 2016).

The elevated levels of circulating inflammatory molecules that accompany aging can communicate with the central nervous system (CNS) through three major pathways to promote neuroinflammation: the humoral pathway, the neural pathway, and the cellular pathway (Miller & Raison, 2016). The humoral pathway involves cytokine passage through regions in the brain with more permeable blood brain barriers (BBB), such as the circumventricular organs, as well as the transport of cytokines into the brain via transport molecules on the BBB (Quan & Banks, 2007). The neural pathway involves the binding of cytokines to peripheral afferent nerves, such as the vagus nerve, which then send signals to the brain to initiate inflammatory processes (Quan & Banks, 2007). Lastly, the cellular pathway involves the trafficking of activated immune cells, such as monocytes, into the brain vasculature and parenchyma via chemokines (D'Mello, Le, & Swain, 2009; Miller & Raison, 2016). Together, these pathways make up the neuroimmune axis and represent the mechanisms through which the immune system is capable of modifying the inflammatory profile of the brain.

Microglia, the brain's resident immune cells, also play an important role in creating a neuroinflammatory profile. Under basal conditions, microglia are relatively quiescent and carry

out various functions that help to maintain brain homeostasis, such as surveying the environment and removing debris. Microglia are also involved in detecting heightened levels of inflammation in the periphery and responding by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines (Cherry, Olschowka, & O'Banion, 2014). With age, microglia develop a "primed" profile that has been characterised by increased basal expression of inflammatory markers, as well as an exaggerated inflammatory response following activation of the immune system (Norden, Muccigrosso, & Godbout, 2015).

The resultant neuroinflammation has detrimental effects on neuronal health and disrupts brain homeostasis, which contributes to cognitive decline in aging (Figure 1) (Di Benedetto et al., 2017). Inflammatory mediators in the brain have been shown to inhibit hippocampal neurogenesis (Ekdahl, Claasen, Bonde, Kokaia, & Lindvall, 2003; Koo & Duman, 2008; Vallières, Campbell, Gage, & Sawchenko, 2002) and impair the production and function of neurotrophic factors, such as brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Guan & Fang, 2006; Tong, Balazs, Soiampornkul, Thangnipon, & Cotman, 2008) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (Venters et al., 1999), which are essential for the growth, survival, and development of neurons (Cotman et al., 2007). In rodents, activation of the peripheral immune system by administration of lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a cell-wall component of Gram-negative bacteria, has been shown to elicit an inflammatory response in the hippocampus, inhibit hippocampal neurogenesis (Monje, Toda, & Palmer, 2003), and decrease BDNF levels in various brain regions, including the hippocampus (Guan & Fang, 2006). Taken together, these findings suggest that the systemic inflammation observed in older adults can elicit neuroinflammation, which has detrimental effects on brain health at both the cellular and molecular level.

Cellular and molecular impairments within the brain following an inflammatory insult provide a mechanism for the observed relationship between inflammation and cognition in older

adults (Figure 1). A large body of literature supports the notion that the inflammatory profile of the brain changes with age. In rodents, the aged brain exhibits higher levels of inflammatory markers at rest compared to their younger counterparts (Godbout et al., 2005; Scheinert et al., 2015; Ye & Johnson, 1999). Furthermore, administration of LPS has been shown to induce an exaggerated inflammatory response in both the circulation and brain of aged mice, when compared to younger mice (Chen et al., 2008; Godbout et al., 2005), which manifests as impaired performance on memory tasks (Chen et al., 2008). In humans, circulating inflammatory markers have been associated with impaired cognitive function (Bettcher et al., 2012; Dik et al., 2007; Marsland et al., 2015; Tegeler et al., 2016), with higher levels of inflammation predicting subsequent cognitive decline (Marioni et al., 2009; Rafnsson et al., 2007; Weaver et al., 2002; Yaffe et al., 2003). Extending these findings, Marsland et al. (2015) demonstrated that circulating IL-6 and CRP are associated with lower cortical grey and white-matter volumes, as well as lower hippocampal volume. Since changes in brain morphology precede cognitive decline and may contribute to reduced cognition (Kramer et al., 2007; Persson et al., 2012; Raz et al., 2005), these findings suggest that the relationship between peripheral inflammation and cognition may be mediated by changes in brain morphology (Marsland et al., 2015). Thus, interventions that target the immune system and are capable of reducing inflammation are of interest for the aging population and may help to alleviate cognitive decline.

Physical activity and memory

The evidence presented herein will discuss the relationship between physical activity and cognition, with a focus on memory, in older adults. Physical activity is defined as any bodily movements produced by skeletal muscle that results in an increase in energy expenditure beyond resting levels (Caspersen et al., 1985). A subcategory of physical activity is exercise, which is

any activity that is planned, structured, repetitive, and is completed for the purpose of enhancing or maintaining physical fitness (Caspersen et al., 1985). Physical fitness is a set of health-related qualities that people have and/or aim to achieve, such as cardiorespiratory fitness and body composition (Caspersen et al., 1985). Furthermore, cardiorespiratory fitness represents the ability of the circulatory and respiratory systems to supply oxygen during sustained physical activity and thus cardiorespiratory fitness can be considered a physiological indicator of habitual physical activity (Caspersen et al., 1985). While physical activity, exercise, and cardiorespiratory fitness represent different concepts, they are related to one another and will be discussed in this thesis. *Observational evidence*

A physically active lifestyle is beneficial for maintaining cognitive function with advancing age. Meta-analyses and systematic reviews of epidemiologic studies conclude that higher levels of physical activity are associated with a reduced risk of cognitive decline and dementia (Beydoun et al., 2014; Blondell, Hammersley-Mather, & Veerman, 2014; Sofi et al., 2011). Additionally, of the several modifiable risk factors for Alzheimer's disease, including diabetes, hypertension, obesity, smoking, depression, and education, the risk factor contributing to the largest proportion of Alzheimer's disease cases in the United States, and third largest worldwide, is physical inactivity (Barnes & Yaff, 2011). Thus, physical activity represents an important and promising area of study for maintaining cognition with age.

Physical activity may enhance cognitive function primarily through its impact on cardiorespiratory fitness. The cardiorespiratory fitness hypothesis proposes that fitness is a physiological mediator that explains the cognitive benefits associated with participating in physical activity (Colcombe et al., 2004; Kramer et al., 1999; McAuley et al., 2004). In older adults, greater cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with better global cognition, as well as

better domain-specific cognitive function, including memory (Freudenberger et al., 2016). While improved cardiorespiratory fitness benefits multiple cognitive domains, this thesis will focus on high-interference memory due to its reliance on hippocampal circuitry and vulnerability to agerelated decline (Leal & Yassa, 2015). In young adults, the beneficial effects of physical activity on high-interference memory are mediated by cardiorespiratory fitness (Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Fukuie, et al., 2017), providing support for the cardiorespiratory fitness hypothesis. In older adults, greater cardiorespiratory fitness is also associated with improved performance on a high-interference memory task (Bullock et al., 2018), as well as measures of brain integrity, such as improved cerebral blood flow (Dougherty et al., 2019) and larger hippocampal volumes (Dougherty et al., 2017; Erickson et al., 2009). Together, these results suggest that cardiorespiratory fitness is an important factor influencing brain health and prompts specific benefits for memory performance.

Exercise training

While long-term prospective studies have consistently demonstrated the cognitive benefits associated with physical activity, findings from randomized-controlled trials implementing exercise have been mixed. Meta-analytical studies and systematic reviews in young, middle-aged, and older adults have found an overall positive effect of exercise training and cardiorespiratory fitness gains on various cognitive domains, including memory (Colcombe & Kramer, 2003; Northey, Cherbuin, Pumpa, Smee, & Rattray, 2018; Smith et al., 2010); while other studies in older adults have concluded that there is insufficient evidence to support this proposed relationship (Angevaren et al., 2008; Snowden et al., 2011; Young, Angevaren, Rusted, & Tabet, 2015). One meta-analysis even found a negative relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness gains and cognitive performance, such that larger improvements in fitness were predictive

of lesser improvements in cognitive performance (Etnier, Nowell, Landers, & Sibley, 2006). One potential reason for these equivocal findings is the lack of consistency in cognitive measures used across studies (Voss et al., 2019; Young et al., 2015). For example, the review conducted by Young et al., (2015) included results from over 40 cognitive tests, which tested different aspects of cognitive function. It is difficult to interpret results from a battery of cognitive measures this large as different tasks have differing levels of sensitivity, thus grouping them together may obscure their true relationship with exercise. Therefore, it has been recommended that researchers in the field agree on a smaller set of cognitive measures to allow for better comparison across studies (Young et al., 2015).

Despite the high degree of variation in cognitive measures employed across studies, highinterference memory is a hippocampal-dependent ability that has consistently demonstrated exercise-induced improvements. In young adults, 6 weeks of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) has been shown to improve high-interference memory (Déry et al., 2013; Heisz et al., 2017). Additionally, even *acute* bouts of mild and moderate-intensity exercise in young adults are capable of augmenting high-interference memory performance (Suwabe et al., 2018; Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Yassa, et al., 2017). A recent study in our laboratory investigated the effect of moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) and HIIT on high-interference memory in older adults and found HIIT, but not MICT, improved high-interference memory (Kovacevic, 2017). This was the first study to examine the effect of exercise training, as well as the role of exercise intensity, on this memory domain in older adults, highlighting an important future direction. Taken together, these findings portray the robust influence of exercise training on high-interference memory.

Potential mechanisms underlying the relationship between physical activity and memory

Neurogenesis

One potential mechanism by which physical activity is able to enhance memory is neurogenesis. In both adult and aged mice, exercise has been shown to induce hippocampal neurogenesis (van Praag, 2005; van Praag, Christie, Sejnowski, & Gage, 1999), with greater amounts of neurogenesis being correlated with improved high-interference memory (Creer, Romberg, Saksida, van Praag, & Bussey, 2010). Furthermore, mice with ablated neurogenesis exhibit impaired performance on high-interference memory tasks, demonstrating a functional role for hippocampal neurogenesis in high-interference memory (Clelland et al., 2009). While measuring hippocampal neurogenesis directly is not yet feasible in humans, researchers have discovered potential markers of neurogenesis in humans. Pereira et al. (2007) found that aerobic exercise training increased cerebral blood volume (CBV) in the DG of both mice and middleaged humans and that, in mice, the increase in CBV was correlated with the amount of neurogenesis, suggesting CBV may be a useful in vivo correlate of neurogenesis in humans. In older adults, aerobic exercise-induced improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness are correlated with increased hippocampal CBV, which suggests that the aged brain retains the plasticity to undergo these changes (Maass et al., 2015) and thus could be partly responsible for the memory benefits provided by engaging in physical activity.

Inflammation

Regular engagement in physical activity has anti-inflammatory effects (Gleeson et al., 2011) and is thus thought to be a potential treatment strategy to counteract inflammaging and memory decline (Figure 2) (Di Benedetto et al., 2017). Cross-sectionally, physically active older adults have lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 and higher levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 compared to their inactive counterparts (Jankord & Jemiolo, 2004).

Additionally, exercise training in the older adult population is able to reduce levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, TNF- α , and CRP, while also increasing anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Monteiro-Junior et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2012). In aged rats, aerobic exercise reverses the impairments in hippocampal-dependent memory caused by peripheral LPS injection, while also preventing the infection-induced increase in hippocampal IL-1 β (Barrientos et al., 2011). Even without a peripheral immune challenge, aerobic exercise training improves memory performance and decreases hippocampal IL-1 β in aged rodents (Speisman, Kumar, Rani, Foster, & Ormerod, 2013). This animal- and human-based evidence supports the notion that physical activity may be able to improve cognitive function by modulating the immune and neuroimmune profiles of older individuals.

Neurotrophic factors

Neurotrophic factors, such as BDNF and IGF-1, are also thought to be involved in facilitating the beneficial effects of physical activity on cognitive function (Figure 2) (Cotman et al., 2007; Voss et al., 2019). Evidence from both human and animal studies have demonstrated the role of BDNF in synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, and cell survival (Cotman et al., 2007; Sleiman & Chao, 2015). Exercise is able to induce BDNF mRNA and protein expression in the rodent hippocampus following short (days) and long (months) training periods (Freitas et al., 2018; Neeper, Góauctemez-Pinilla, Choi, & Cotman, 1995; Voss et al., 2019; Voss, Vivar, Kramer, & van Praag, 2013) and can remain elevated for up to 2 weeks following training cessation (Berchtold, Castello, & Cotman, 2010). When the ability of BDNF to bind to its receptor, TrkB, in the hippocampus is blocked, the exercise-induced benefits on learning and memory are eliminated (Vaynman, Ying, & Gomez-Pinilla, 2004). Furthermore, when the gene encoding the TrkB receptor is ablated in adult hippocampal neural progenitor cells, mice

demonstrate impaired hippocampal neurogenesis (Li et al., 2008). These findings highlight the importance of BDNF in the exercise-cognition relationship.

In humans, an acute bout of exercise transiently increases circulating BDNF, with greater increases seen in individuals who exercise regularly (Szuhany, Bugatti, & Otto, 2015). While we cannot be certain that the levels of BDNF in the blood directly reflect that within the brain, it is estimated that the human brain contributes 70-80% to circulating BDNF at rest and during exercise (Rasmussen et al., 2009), suggesting that circulating BDNF concentration may serve as a proxy for BDNF in the brain. Resting concentrations of circulating BDNF have also been shown to increase in response to exercise training of two or more weeks in duration (Dinoff et al., 2016; Szuhany et al., 2015). Critically, greater changes in the resting concentrations of BDNF are correlated with larger changes in hippocampal volume following one year of aerobic exercise training (Erickson et al., 2011). Since BDNF is thought to play a role in exerciseinduced neurogenesis, the increased hippocampal volume may be due to enhanced cell proliferation and dendritic branching (Erickson et al., 2011). Furthermore, higher levels of circulating BDNF are associated with larger hippocampi and better memory performance in older adults (Erickson et al., 2010). Nonetheless, cross-sectional studies introduce a degree of discrepancy. Some studies do find that more physically active individuals have higher levels of circulating BDNF at rest (Correia et al., 2011; Zoladz et al., 2008), but others report null results (Flöel et al., 2010). Several studies have also reported a negative relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and circulating BDNF, such that those with higher fitness levels have lower levels of BDNF (Cho et al., 2012; Currie, Ramsbottom, Ludlow, Nevill, & Gilder, 2009; Huang, Larsen, Ried-Larsen, Møller, & Andersen, 2014; Jung, Kim, Davis, Blair, & Cho, 2011).

The reason for this discrepancy in the literature remains unclear and highlights the need for further investigation.

IGF-1 is also thought to have pro-cognitive effects due to its role in supporting synaptic plasticity, synapse density, neurotransmission, and neurogenesis (Fernandez & Torres-Alemán, 2012; Trejo et al., 2007). IGF-1 gene expression is increased in the hippocampus following a short period (5 days) of exercise in rodents (Ding, Vaynman, Akhavan, Ying, & Gomez-Pinilla, 2006). IGF-1 is also produced in the periphery, transported across the blood brain barrier (Reinhardt & Bondy, 1994), and taken up into the cortex and hippocampus following an exercise bout in rodents (Carro, Nuñez, Busiguina, & Torres-Aleman, 2000). In fact, infusion of IGF-1 into the systemic circulation of sedentary rats produces many of the same benefits as exercise, including enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis (Aberg, Aberg, Hedbäcker, Oscarsson, & Eriksson, 2000; Trejo, Carro, & Torres-Aleman, 2001). When the entrance of peripheral IGF-1 into the brain is blocked, a complete inhibition of exercise-induced hippocampal neurogenesis occurs (Trejo et al., 2001). Furthermore, blocking IGF-1 receptors in the hippocampus, and thus preventing IGF-1 downstream signalling cascades, during a short period of voluntary exercise prevents the exercise-induced increase in BDNF mRNA and protein, as well as impairs performance on a hippocampal-dependent memory test (Ding et al., 2006). These results suggest that IGF-1 and BDNF may work in concert, converging on similar downstream signaling pathways, to facilitate the effects of physical activity on hippocampal plasticity and memory.

Similar to BDNF, an acute bout of exercise results in transient increases in circulating IGF-1 concentrations (Cappon, Brasel, Mohan, & Cooper, 1994; Hornum, Cooper, Brasel, Bueno, & Sietsema, 1997; Kostka, Patricot, Mathian, Lacour, & Bonnefoy, 2003; Schwarz, Brasel, Hintz, Mohan, & Cooper, 1996). In contrast, the effect of exercise training on resting

concentrations of IGF-1 appears to be less consistent. A recent systematic review investigating the relationship between exercise training, IGF-1, and cognition in older adults was unable to establish a consensus on this relationship due to mixed results, with IGF-1 levels increasing, decreasing, or remaining unchanged in response to exercise training (Stein et al., 2018). Crosssectionally, higher levels of cardiorespiratory fitness are associated with higher levels of circulating IGF-1 in young adults, as well as older adults (Haydar, Blackman, Tobin, Wright, & Fleg, 2000; Kelly et al., 1990; Nindl, Santtila, Vaara, Hakkinen, & Kyrolainen, 2011; Poehlman & Copeland, 1990). IGF-1 levels have also been shown to correlate with cognitive performance in older adults (Arwert, Deijen, & Drent, 2005; Okereke et al., 2007; Rollero et al., 1998), with higher levels of IGF-1 predicting less subsequent cognitive decline (Kalmijn, Janssen, Pols, Lamberts, & Breteler, 2000).

Since inflammation has been shown to impair neurotrophic factor signaling within the brain, physical activity presents a potential intervention strategy for maintaining brain health into advancing age, as it promotes an anti-inflammatory environment and induces neurotrophic factor expression, both of which are conducive to improved cognitive function (Figure 2). Currently, there is limited research in humans investigating the influence of physical activity on both inflammation and neurotrophic factors, as well as their relationship to memory. The inflammation and neurotrophic factor literature is quite separate in humans, highlighting an important gap to address in the literature. A greater understanding of the mechanisms by which physical activity improves memory opens the possibility of designing feasible and effective interventions for reducing the magnitude of age-related cognitive decline.

Purpose

The purpose of the present study was to investigate the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, an indicator of habitual physical activity levels, and high-interference memory in older adults, as well as examine inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors as potential underlying mechanisms. As an exploratory analysis, this study aimed to evaluate whether the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory was sequentially mediated by inflammation and neurotrophic factors. Participants completed a submaximal cardiorespiratory fitness assessment and high-interference memory was evaluated using a hippocampal-dependent task. Serum blood samples were collected at rest to measure peripheral concentrations of inflammatory markers, including IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and CRP, as well as neurotrophic factors BDNF and IGF-1.

Hypotheses

It was hypothesized that cardiorespiratory fitness would be positively associated with high-interference memory. Additionally, it was hypothesized that greater cardiorespiratory fitness would be correlated with lower levels of inflammatory markers and higher levels of neurotrophic factors, and that inflammatory markers would be inversely correlated with neurotrophic factors. Better high-interference memory was also hypothesized to be correspondent with lower levels of inflammatory markers and higher levels of neurotrophic factors. Lastly, as an exploratory analysis, it was hypothesized that the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory would be sequentially mediated by inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors.

METHODS

Participants

A sample size estimate was computed using G*Power software (Version 3.1;

www.gpower.hhu.de), based on Suwabe et al.'s (2017) medium effect size of the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory in young adults (r = .323). According to G*Power, 72 participants were required with an alpha of .05 and a power of .80. Participants were recruited through posters and local news outlets in Hamilton and surrounding areas. Eligibility criteria included being 65 years of age or older, free from cognitive impairment, auto-immune disease, type II diabetes mellitus, and obesity (class II; BMI > 35), non-smoker, and not currently taking hormone replacement therapy or beta-blockers. Fulfillment of these criteria was assessed through verbal or written confirmation via phone or email. Eligible participants were required to gain written informed consent from their physicians to participate in the sub-maximal cardiorespiratory fitness assessment prior to enrolling in the study. This study received clearance from the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. Following study completion, participants were compensated \$30 for their participation.

Materials

Cardiorespiratory fitness

The Rockport 1-mile walk test (Kline et al., 1987) was used as a cardiorespiratory fitness assessment to predict peak oxygen uptake (VO₂ peak). The Rockport 1-mile walk test has been validated in older adults, with Rockport-derived estimates of VO₂ peak correlating highly with direct measures of VO₂ peak determined by traditional graded exercise test protocols (Colcombe et al., 2004; Fenstermaker, Plowman, & Looney, 1992; Kline et al., 1987; McAuley et al., 2011). Participants walked on an indoor track and were instructed to complete the 1-mile walk as quickly as possible, without running. A trained research assistant supervised the test and recorded heart rate at each minute interval and at completion (measured using Polar FT1 heart

rate monitors), as well as the time taken to complete the 1-mile walk. Cardiorespiratory fitness was estimated using the following equation:

Predicted VO_2 peak = 132.853 – (0.0769 x weight in pounds) – (0.3877 x age in years) + (6.315 for males only) – (3.2649 x time in minutes) – (0.1565 x heart rate at completion)

The first eleven participants that enrolled in this study completed the Rockport 1-mile walk test on the indoor track located in the David Braley Athletic Centre at McMaster University. This track was subsequently closed to the public. Thus, the remainder of participants completed the Rockport 1-mile walk test on the indoor track located in the Physical Activity Centre of Excellence at McMaster University.

Body composition

Body composition was assessed using air displacement plethysmography (BOD POD, Cosmed USA Inc.). Prior to each testing session, the BOD POD was calibrated according to the manufacturer's guidelines using a cylinder of known volume (50.053 L). Participants were asked to avoid food, water, and exercise for at least 2 hours prior to testing. Participants were tested wearing form-fitted clothing, such as swimsuits or compression shorts, and swimming caps. Participants were also instructed to remove all jewellery, eyeglasses, and any other types of accessories. Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm using a stadiometer and body mass was measured to the nearest 0.001 kg using the BOD POD calibrated electronic scale. Then, participants entered the BOD POD chamber, where they were asked to sit still and breathe normally. Body volume was measured twice; if the first and second measurements were not consistent, a third measurement was taken. Thoracic gas volume was predicted using standard prediction equations based on sex, age, and height; this value was then incorporated into the calculation of body volume, as per the manufacturer's recommendations (McCrory, Gomez,

Bernauer, & Mole, 1995). Percent body fat was calculated from body density determined by the BOD POD using the Siri equation (Siri, 1961).

Global cognition

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005) was used to assess global cognition as a descriptive characteristic of overall cognitive status. The MoCA assesses multiple domains of cognition, including visuospatial abilities, executive function, memory, attention, concentration, working memory, language, and orientation. The minimum score on the MoCA is 0 and the maximum score is 30, with a higher score indicating better cognitive function (Nasreddine et al., 2005). A recommended cut-off score of 23 has been suggested for differentiating healthy aging from Mild Cognitive Impairment (Carson, Leach, & Murphy, 2018).

Memory

An adapted version of the Mnemonic Similarity Task (MST) (Kirwan & Stark, 2007; Stark, Stevenson, Wu, Rutledge, & Stark, 2015; Stark et al., 2013) was used to assess highinterference memory. This task involved an incidental study phase during which participants were presented 60 full colour images of everyday objects against a white background on a computer screen for 2 seconds each. A blank screen preceded each trial for 500 milliseconds. The images were shown individually and in random order for each participant. Participants were asked to classify each image as either indoor or outdoor using the "1" and "2" key, respectively, on the number pad to aid in encoding and maintain focus. Immediately after completion of the study phase, participants completed a test phase where they were instructed to classify objects as either "Old" (repetitions), "Similar" (lures), or "New" (foils) using the "1", "2", and "3" keys, respectively, on the number pad. "Old" objects were objects previously presented in the study

phase, "Similar" objects were highly similar, but not identical, to objects presented in the study phase, and "New" objects were objects that were not previously presented. The test phase consisted of 90 trials presented in random order: 30 repetitions, 30 lures, and 30 foils. In this phase, each image was presented on the computer screen until the participant responded.

High-interference memory was assessed as the ability to correctly identify lure items as "Similar". Performance on the task was quantified as the proportion of "Similar" responses to lure images minus the proportion of "Similar" responses to foil images, which corrects for any bias the participant may have to use the "Similar" response overall (Stark et al., 2013). This formula can be seen below:

High-interference memory = [p("Simiar"|Lure image) - p("Similar"|Foil image)]Data were inspected to ensure task comprehension; participants who did not use all target keys were assumed to have not understood task instructions and thus, were removed from all highinterference memory analyses. One participants data from the MST was removed for this reason.

Activity tracking

Participants were equipped with a Fitbit Flex 2 as a descriptive characteristic of habitual physical activity levels (Fitbit Inc., San Francisco, CA). Participants were instructed to wear the device on their non-dominant wrist during waking hours for a period of 7 days. The validity of the Fitbit for measuring steps has been demonstrated previously in a sample of community-dwelling older adults (Paul et al., 2015). Fitbit tracker data was extracted from the Fitbit app interface as the number of steps taken each day. Step counts from the Fitbit were averaged over the 7-day period to compute average steps/day.

Inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors

Peripheral blood samples were collected in the morning, between 8:00 – 11:00 AM, following 12 hours of fasting. Participants were also instructed to avoid engaging in vigorous exercise, as well as to avoid consumption of alcohol and caffeine, for 24 hours prior to their scheduled visit. Serum samples were collected into BD Vacutainer Serum tubes (BD, Franklin Lanes, NJ). The tubes were allowed 30 minutes to clot at room temperature and were then centrifuged at 1000 xg for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was aliquoted into 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and stored at -20°C until analysis.

Serum measurements of IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , CRP, BDNF, and IGF-1 were quantified using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) according to kit specifications (R&D Systems; Minneapolis, MN, USA). All standards and samples were run in duplicate. The optical density was determined at 450 nm, with wavelength correction set at 540 nm, using the Tecan Infinite M1000 PRO plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland).

Procedure

Participants visited the laboratory on three separate occasions. At the first visit, participants completed demographic questionnaires and performed the Rockport 1-mile walk test to predict their cardiorespiratory fitness. At the second visit, participants underwent the body composition assessment, completed the global cognition assessment, and received the activity tracker. Following the 7 days of activity tracking, participants returned to the laboratory for their third visit. At this visit, the serum samples were collected, and participants completed the memory task. Participants were encouraged to bring a snack to consume at the second and third visits prior to completing the cognitive tasks so as to avoid the potential influence of fasting on cognitive performance (Benau, Orloff, Janke, Serpell, & Timko, 2014).

The first eleven participants enrolled in the study visited the laboratory on two separate occasions, as opposed to three. At the first visit, these participants completed the demographic questionnaires, body composition assessment, global cognition assessment, performed the Rockport 1-mile walk test to predict their cardiorespiratory fitness, and received the activity tracker. Following the 7 days of activity tracking, participants returned to the laboratory for their second visit. At this visit, the serum samples were collected, and participants completed the memory task. These participants were also encouraged to bring a snack to consume at the first and second visits prior to completing the cognitive tasks so as to avoid the potential influence of fasting on cognitive performance (Benau et al., 2014). The study was restructured from two visits to three visits following the closure of the indoor track located in the David Braley Athletic Centre. The indoor track located in the Physical Activity Centre of Excellence had limited availability, thus the study protocol was spread across three visits to maximize the number of participants we were able to schedule on the track in the available time slots.

Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics Software 23. Descriptive statistics were computed for all study variables. For all statistical analyses, a p value (two-tailed) of <.05 was considered significant.

Partial correlations were conducted to verify that cardiorespiratory fitness was associated with average steps/day. Age and sex were included as covariates.

Since the primary objective of the present study was to investigate the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory in older adults, we computed partial correlations to examine the association between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory. Age, sex, and years of education were included as covariates.

To investigate the potential mechanisms related to cardiorespiratory fitness and highinterference memory, partial correlations were computed to assess the relationship of cardiorespiratory fitness with inflammatory markers (IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , CRP) and neurotrophic factors (BDNF, IGF-1). Age and sex were included as covariates. Partial correlations were also conducted to examine the association among inflammatory markers (IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , CRP) and neurotrophic factors (BDNF, IGF-1). Age and sex were included as covariates. Next, correlations were conducted to examine the association of inflammatory markers (IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-1 β , TNF- α , CRP) and neurotrophic factors (BDNF, IGF-1) with high-interference memory. Age, sex, and years of education were included as covariates.

As an exploratory analysis and to test the hypothesis that inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors mediate the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and highinterference memory, a sequential mediation analysis was conducted using Model 6 in the *PROCESS* software macro v3.3 for SPSS (Hayes, 2018). Age, sex, and years of education were included as covariates for all mediations. Bootstrap procedures utilizing 10,000 simulations were computed and a 95% confidence interval that does not cross zero is indicative of a significant indirect (mediation) effect.

RESULTS

Data screening and assumptions

Data were screened for normality using the Kolmogrov-Smirnov test and through visual inspection of histograms. All analyzed data were normally distributed. Data were also screened for extreme outliers: values beyond quartiles 1 (Q1) and 3 (Q3) with a step of 1.5 times the interquartile range (IQR; i.e., values <Q1-1.5*IQR or >Q3+1.5*IQR). Two participants were identified as outliers in cardiorespiratory fitness, and five participants were identified as outliers

in inflammatory markers (IL-6: n=1, TNF- α : n=1, IL-6 and TNF- α : n=1 CRP: n=2). Thus, a total of seven participants were removed from analyses, resulting in a final sample size of 65. The serum concentration of IL-1 β was only detectable in 30% of the sample; thus, IL-1 β was not included in analyses.

Data were then screened for missing cells; 3.1% of the data was missing. Missing values were present in the following variables: cardiorespiratory fitness (n = 1), average steps/day (n = 4), high-interference memory (n = 5), BDNF (n = 5), IGF-1 (n = 5), IL-6 (n = 5), TNF- α (n = 5), and CRP (n = 6). The pattern of missingness was considered to be missing completely at random (MCAR), according to Little's MCAR test. Missing cells were subsequently imputed using expectation-maximization (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). For two participants expectation-maximization imputed values outside the physiological range for CRP (values < 0). Analyses were conducted on the original data, with missing values excluded pairwise, and on the imputed data. In all cases, analyses produced nearly identical results. Thus, results of the analyses using the original data are reported, with missing values excluded pairwise.

Descriptive characteristics

Descriptive characteristics for the study sample are presented in Table 1. Participants were between 65-80 years of age (M \pm SD: 70.6 \pm 4.0), predominantly female (41/65), and welleducated. Performance on the MoCA ranged from 17-30 (M \pm SD: 25.9 \pm 2.8). While seven participants fell below the recommended cut-off score of 23 for differentiating healthy aging from Mild Cognitive Impairment (Carson et al., 2018), all participants reported that they were free from any diagnosis of cognitive impairment and thus met the inclusion criteria.

Partial correlations

Partial correlations confirmed that cardiorespiratory fitness was positively associated with average steps/day (r(56) = .478, p < .001).

Table 2 presents mean values for cardiorespiratory fitness, memory, and biomarkers and Table 3 presents partial correlations between these variables. There was no association between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory (r(54) = -.009, p = .950; Figure 3). However, cardiorespiratory fitness was negatively associated with IL-6 (r(55) = -.316, p = .016; Figure 4) and TNF- α (r(55) = -.352, p < .01; Figure 5), but not CRP (r(54) = -.110, p = .419). There was a trend towards a positive relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and BDNF (r(55) = .235, p = .078; Figure 6), but this was not seen with IGF-1 (r(55) = -.013, p = .925).

Among the inflammatory markers, CRP was positively associated with IL-6 (r(55) = .369, p < .01) and TNF- α (r(55) = .394, p < .01), and IL-6 and TNF- α were positively correlated with one another (r(56) = .264, p = .045). There was also a negative correlation between IL-6 and IGF-1 (r(56) = .441, p < .01; Figure 7). No additional correlations were observed among the inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors (all p > .05).

High-interference memory was not associated with the inflammatory markers or neurotrophic factors (all p > .05).

Sequential mediation analysis

As an exploratory analysis, inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors were tested as sequential mediators between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory (Figure 8). Cardiorespiratory fitness served as the independent variable (*X*), high-interference memory served as the dependent variable (*Y*), and each inflammatory marker (IL-6, TNF- α , CRP; *M*₁) and neurotrophic factor (BDNF, IGF-1; *M*₂) served as the mediators. Age, sex, and years of

education were entered as covariates for all mediations. All six mediation models indicated no significant indirect effect (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

The current study aimed to examine the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory in older adults, and to explore whether inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors underlie this relationship. An association between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory was not observed, and further analyses revealed that inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors did not sequentially mediate any relationship between fitness and memory. However, older adults with higher cardiorespiratory fitness had lower levels of inflammatory markers IL-6 and TNF- α and a trend towards higher levels of BDNF. Furthermore, lower levels of IL-6 were associated with higher levels of IGF-1.

Cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory

Our primary hypothesis was that cardiorespiratory fitness would be positively associated with high-interference memory, but we did not find evidence to support this. This is in contrast with previous literature that has demonstrated an association between the two in both younger and older adults (Bullock et al., 2018; Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Fukuie, et al., 2017). A potential explanation for the non-significant relationship is the influence of other lifestyle factors, such as socially and mentally stimulating activities, on memory (Nyberg, Lövdén, Riklund, Lindenberger, & Bäckman, 2012), which we did not control for. Indeed, engagement in sociocognitive activity is associated with better memory performance in older adults (Clark, Vandermorris, & Heisz, 2015). Furthermore, older adults who engage in more socially and mentally stimulating activities demonstrate less subsequent cognitive decline (Ghisletta, Bickel, & Lövdén, 2006; Lövdén, Ghisletta, & Lindenberger, 2005; Small, Dixon, McArdle, & Grimm,
2012). Thus, it is possible that the older adults in our sample with lower levels of cardiorespiratory fitness were engaging in other lifestyle activities known to enhance memory. This is consistent with the notion of cognitive reserve (Stern, 2009)—a concept that refers to the individual differences that allow some individuals to tolerate and compensate for the age-related changes in the brain better than others (Nyberg et al., 2012; Stern, 2009). Evidence suggests that 'enriched' lifestyles involving mentally, socially, and physically stimulating activities help to support and build this cognitive reserve (Nyberg et al., 2012; Scarmeas et al., 2003). This represents an important area for future research; particularly, examining whether individuals who participate in lifestyle activities known to maintain brain health (i.e., mental, social, and physical activities) are also less vulnerable to brain pathology when it does eventually occur (Nyberg et al., 2012).

Additionally, it is important to consider the specificity of the task to target highinterference memory, especially with respect to the role of target-lure similarity. Although not coded for in the present study, target-lure similarity is the degree of mnemonic similarity between the target (i.e., image presented in the 'study phase') and the lure (i.e., highly similar image presented in the 'test phase'), with a greater degree of mnemonic similarity generating higher levels of interference. Research in young adults suggests that the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and performance on the MST is influenced by the degree of target-lure similarity, such that fitness is only associated with high-interference memory when there are moderate levels of interference, but not when there are low or high levels of interference (Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Fukuie, et al., 2017). A similar pattern of results emerges with acute exercise, such that an acute bout of light and moderate-intensity exercise improves performance only on moderate and high similarity lures (Suwabe et al., 2018; Suwabe, Hyodo,

Byun, Ochi, Yassa, et al., 2017). Therefore, it is possible that the influence of cardiorespiratory fitness on high-interference memory was obscured because our implementation of the task did not take into account target-lure similarity.

Potential mechanisms: inflammation and neurotrophic factors

Our secondary objective was to investigate potential mechanisms underlying the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory. Although there was no association between fitness and memory, further analyses were carried out to examine how inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors relate to both fitness and memory, as well as to one another.

Cardiorespiratory fitness was negatively associated with both IL-6 and TNF-α, such that those with higher fitness levels had lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Given that aging is associated with immunosenescence and chronic low-grade inflammation, our results support the notion that increased levels of physical activity, and thus greater cardiorespiratory fitness, may help to restore a more 'youthful' immune profile through its anti-inflammatory effects (Gleeson et al., 2011; Jankord & Jemiolo, 2004; Monteiro-Junior et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2012). Indeed, it has been suggested that many of the characteristic features of immunosenescence observed in older adults are driven by the reduced levels of physical activity that occur with advancing age (Duggal, Pollock, Lazarus, Harridge, & Lord, 2018).

Not all markers of inflammation were associated with fitness. Specifically, we did not observe an inverse relationship between CRP and cardiorespiratory fitness, despite a positive association between CRP and both IL-6 and TNF- α . Since IL-6 is the primary stimulus for the hepatic synthesis of CRP (Du Clos, 2000), it is often expected that these two inflammatory markers will respond similarly to anti- or pro-inflammatory stimuli, but this is not always the

case. A previous study in older women investigating cardiovascular risk factors found similar results as shown here, such that exercise frequency was negatively correlated with circulating IL-6, but not CRP (Bermudez, Rifai, Buring, Manson, & Ridker, 2002). That study also reported that other cardiovascular risk factors, such as alcohol use, were discordantly associated with either IL-6 or CRP (Bermudez et al., 2002). Taken together, these results suggest that IL-6 and CRP may be differentially associated with cardiorespiratory fitness, and that there may be IL-6 independent pathways that influence CRP levels.

Since the immune system is capable of communicating with the brain (Quan & Banks, 2007), it has been suggested that physical activity may promote brain health by reducing neuroinflammation (Di Benedetto et al., 2017). We hypothesized one mechanism by which lower levels of inflammation may promote memory is via its influence on neurotrophic factors (Cotman et al., 2007; Di Benedetto et al., 2017). Indeed, we found a negative correlation between IL-6 and IGF-1, such that those with higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 had lower levels of IGF-1. Although prior work has demonstrated a similar relationship with frail older adults (Leng et al., 2004), disabled older women (Cappola et al., 2003), and individuals with rheumatoid arthritis (De Benedetti et al., 1997), this is one of the first studies to investigate the relationship between IL-6 and IGF-1 in healthy older adults.

With respect to hippocampal function and memory, animal models of rheumatoid arthritis with high serum levels of IL-6 have demonstrated impaired IGF-1 receptor signaling in the hippocampus, which is associated with reduced hippocampal neurogenesis and smaller hippocampal volume (Andersson et al., 2018). However, we did not find associations between IL-6 or IGF-1 with high-interference memory in our healthy older adult sample. In fact, none of our inflammatory markers or neurotrophic factors were associated with high-interference

memory. One potential explanation for this is that the sample of older adults participating in this study were less immunosenescent than the general population, and thus had overall lower levels of inflammatory markers. The nonsignificant associations between inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors with memory may also come back to the idea of cognitive reserve; specifically, within our sample of healthy older adults, potential underlying brain pathologies caused by inflammation may have not yet accumulated to the point of compromised memory function. This reasoning is consistent with prior work, which has demonstrated that higher levels of inflammation at baseline are associated with an increased rate of memory decline at follow up, despite a nonsignificant association between inflammation and memory at baseline (Mooijaart et al., 2013). Thus, it is possible that if the present study tracked this sample of older adults over time, those with higher inflammation may exhibit more accelerated memory decline.

Although we found a reciprocal relationship between inflammation and IGF-1, the same was not observed for BDNF. It is important to note that much of the work investigating the relationship between inflammation and BDNF has been conducted *in vitro* or in animal models and has measured hippocampal BDNF expression (Calabrese et al., 2014; Patterson, 2015). Our measurements of BDNF were derived from the circulation and thus we cannot be certain the extent to which peripheral BDNF represents central BDNF.

Furthermore, we only observed a trending positive correlation between cardiorespiratory fitness and BDNF, consistent with many prior studies (though not all, see Cho et al., 2012; Currie et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2011) that have reported higher resting levels of BDNF in physically active and exercise-trained subjects (Correia et al., 2011; Szuhany et al., 2015; Zoladz et al., 2008). Another methodological consideration with BDNF measurements in humans is whether it is quantified in plasma or serum. Plasma samples represent BDNF that

circulates freely (unbound), while serum samples represent both free (unbound) BDNF and BDNF stored in platelets (Walsh & Tschakovsky, 2018). While most of the literature investigating the relationship between exercise and BDNF has measured BDNF in the serum, it would be beneficial for studies to include measurements of BDNF in the serum, plasma, platelets, as well as determine the amount of BDNF per platelet (Walsh & Tschakovsky, 2018). The functional relevance of platelet-derived BDNF in relation to cardiorespiratory fitness and brain health is unclear, thus investigating the relative contribution of different sources of circulating BDNF to the total BDNF concentration may help to further clarify these relationships.

We also found no association between cardiorespiratory fitness and IGF-1. Although some cross-sectional studies have demonstrated a positive relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and IGF-1 (Haydar et al., 2000; Kelly et al., 1990; Nindl et al., 2011; Poehlman & Copeland, 1990), exercise training studies have yielded varying results, with IGF-1 levels increasing, decreasing, or remaining unchanged (Stein et al., 2018). Indeed, resting concentrations of IGF-1 are susceptible to fluctuations and intra-individual variability given that the primary source of IGF-1 synthesis at rest is the liver (Berg & Bang, 2004). Liver-derived IGF-1 can be influenced by growth hormone availability, which is a hormone upstream of IGF-1 that stimulates its production, as well as nutritional factors (Berg & Bang, 2004; Nindl & Pierce, 2010). For example, if the energy and protein demands associated with a physically active lifestyle are not being fulfilled, production of IGF-1 by the liver may actually decrease (Berg & Bang, 2004; Smith, Clemmons, Underwood, Ben-Ezra, & McMurray, 1987). This introduces a source of variability that may have contributed to the nonsignificant association between cardiorespiratory fitness and IGF-1 observed in the present study.

Finally, we explored the hypothesis that inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors mediate a relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory. While the nonsignificant association between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory did not support our primary hypothesis, the absence of a relationship between the independent and dependent variable does not prevent the possibility of mediation (Hayes, 2018). That said, the results indicated that there were no sequential indirect effects of any the inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors on high-interference memory. When interpreting these results, it is important to consider the cross-sectional nature of our study. Specifically, the hypothesized mediation model follows a temporal dynamic, which we were unable to capture with the present study design.

An additional factor that may have obscured potential relationships between fitness, inflammation, neurotrophic factors, and memory is that we only captured resting levels of circulating BDNF and IGF-1. The influence of resting concentrations of BDNF and IGF-1 on brain health is not entirely understood. Since acute exercise transiently increases both circulating BDNF (Rojas Vega et al., 2006; Schmidt-Kassow et al., 2012) and IGF-1 (Schwarz et al., 1996), it may be that these acute increases in neurotrophic factors, rather than their resting concentrations, mediate the structural and functional changes that occur in the brain with regular exercise, such as increased hippocampal volume and enhanced memory (Erickson et al., 2011; Maass et al., 2016, 2015).

Strengths and limitations

The present study addressed an important gap in the literature by exploring inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors in the context of cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory in healthy older adults. The inclusion of various inflammatory markers and neurotrophic

factors in the present study should be viewed as a strength as the results help to inform specific pathways that should be investigated further in the context of human brain health, such as the association between IL-6 and IGF-1. In humans, the literature has largely focused on inflammation and neurotrophic factors as separate mechanisms, but evidence from animal models suggests these mechanisms interact via downstream signaling pathways (Cotman et al., 2007). Specifically, animal studies demonstrate that exercise reduces inflammatory markers within the hippocampus (Barrientos et al., 2011; Speisman et al., 2013) and stimulates neurotrophic factor expression (Ding et al., 2006; Neeper et al., 1995), and that exercise can blunt the inflammation-induced impairments on neurotrophic factor expression (Barrientos et al., 2007; Voss et al., 2013). However, as discussed throughout this thesis, findings in humans have been much less consistent for a variety of reasons, including the limitations discussed below.

The memory task implemented in the present study can be seen as both a strength and a limitation. The MST tasks pattern separation and can be viewed as a stress test for the hippocampus (Voss et al., 2019). Since this task is able to specifically tap into hippocampal-dependent processes, it has been proposed to be the most sensitive to early deteriorations in the hippocampal system that may occur before larger, more advanced memory impairments (Voss et al., 2019). Despite these strengths, the present study did not incorporate target-lure similarity into the MST, as noted above. We attempted to address this limitation post hoc by sorting each lure stimuli into bins based on the degree of mnemonic similarity to the target image (Yassa, Lacy, et al., 2011). Unfortunately, the stimuli presented in our MST did not completely match up with those used by Yassa et al. (2011), thus we were unable to complete the binning process. Since the degree of target-lure similarity has been shown to influence the relationship between

cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory (Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Fukuie, et al., 2017), as well as the effects of acute exercise on high-interference memory (Suwabe et al., 2018; Suwabe, Hyodo, Byun, Ochi, Yassa, et al., 2017), failing to incorporate this into the MST may have obscured the results.

The cross-sectional design of the current study is a limitation, as we cannot establish causality with regards to the observed relationships between fitness, inflammation, and neurotrophic factors. Additionally, this study implemented a sub-maximal cardiorespiratory fitness assessment, known as the Rockport 1-mile walk test (Kline et al., 1987). While this test has been validated in older adults (Colcombe et al., 2004; Fenstermaker et al., 1992; Kline et al., 1987; McAuley et al., 2011), a traditional graded exercise test to maximal exertion would have provided a more valid measure of one's cardiorespiratory fitness levels.

Lastly, the sample of older adults in the present study were relatively healthy and well educated, which may not be representative of the older adult population, thus limiting the generalizability of these findings.

Future directions

Future research is needed to explore the relationship between inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors in humans, and whether physical activity is able to promote favourable changes in these biomarkers to enhance memory function. Studies investigating both the acute effects of exercise on relevant biomarkers, as well as the long-term changes associated with exercise training and physical activity participation, are required to gain a better understanding of potential mechanisms and to establish causality. By examining both the short and long-term effects of exercise, researchers can elucidate the relevance of acute exercise-induced changes in biomarkers, as well as resting concentrations of biomarkers, on memory. Furthermore, where

possible, imaging techniques should be implemented to investigate associated neurobiological mechanisms. Incorporating imaging data alongside behavioural tests of memory will also provide an opportunity to investigate the cognitive reserve theory and identify variables that may contribute to this reserve.

Conclusions

The present study demonstrated that greater cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with lower levels of inflammation and a trend towards higher levels of BDNF. Furthermore, older adults with lower inflammation have higher levels of IGF-1, providing evidence for a reciprocal relationship between inflammation and neurotrophic factor production. Although we did not observe a relationship between fitness and high-interference memory in our sample of older adults, the results suggest that cardiorespiratory fitness may promote favourable changes in inflammatory markers and neurotrophic factors that could help to support brain health with advancing age.



Figure 1. Potential mechanisms underlying age-related memory decline. Aging is associated with elevated levels of circulating inflammatory markers, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and C-reactive protein (CRP); a phenomenon termed inflammaging. These inflammatory markers can communicate with the central nervous system to promote neuroinflammation. Within the brain, inflammatory markers impair the production and function of neurotrophic factors, including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and inhibit hippocampal neurogenesis, resulting in memory decline.



Figure 2. Potential mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of physical activity on memory. Physical activity reduces inflammation in the periphery and within the brain, induces neurotrophic factor expression, including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and stimulates hippocampal neurogenesis. The anti-inflammatory environment achieved through regular physical activity supports the production and function of neurotrophic factors, which in turn promotes the physical activity-induced increase in neurogenesis. The result is enhanced memory function.



Figure 3. The association between predicted VO₂ peak and high-interference memory. There was no correlation between predicted VO₂ peak and high-interference memory after controlling for age, sex, and years of education (r(54) = -.009, p = .950). The scatterplot has not been adjusted for these covariates.



Predicted VO2 peak (ml/kg/min)

Figure 4. The association between predicted VO₂ peak and IL-6. A negative correlation was observed between predicted VO₂ peak and IL-6 after controlling for age and sex (r(55) = -.316, p = .016). The scatterplot has not been adjusted for these covariates.



Predicted VO2 peak (ml/kg/min)

Figure 5. The association between predicted VO₂ peak and TNF- α . A negative correlation was observed between predicted VO₂ peak and TNF- α after controlling for age and sex (r(55) = -.352, p < .01). The scatterplot has not been adjusted for these covariates.



Predicted VO₂ peak (ml/kg/min)

Figure 6. The association between predicted VO₂ peak and BDNF. A trending positive correlation was observed between predicted VO₂ peak and BDNF after controlling for age and sex (r(55) = .235, p = .078). The scatterplot has not been adjusted for these covariates.



IGF-1 (ng/ml)

Figure 7. The association between IGF-1 and IL-6. A negative correlation was observed between IGF-1 and IL-6 after controlling for age and sex (r(56) = -.441, p < .01). The scatterplot has not been adjusted for these covariates.



d.





Figure 8. Sequential mediation models exploring the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and high-interference memory. Age, sex, and years of education were included as covariates in all mediations. There was no indirect sequential effect through (a) IL-6 and BDNF, (b) IL-6 and IGF-1, (c) TNF- α and BDNF, (d) TNF- α and IGF-1, (e) CRP and BDNF, nor (f) CRP and IGF-1. *p < .05, **p < .01.

Variable	Mean (SD)/Frequency (%)
Age (years)	70.6 (4.0)
Sex	
Female	41 (63.1%)
Male	24 (36.9%)
Education (years)	16.7 (3.6)
MoCA	25.9 (2.8)
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	25.6 (2.7)
Body fat (%)	33.8 (8.1)
Average steps/day	8939.1 (4198.1)

 Table 1. Descriptive characteristics for study sample

Table 2. Mean values for cardiorespiratory fitness, memory, and biomarkers

	Mean (SD)
Predicted VO ₂ peak (ml/kg/min)	23.3 (7.0)
High-interference memory	0.30 (0.22)
IL-6 (pg/ml)	1.2 (0.7)
TNF-α (pg/ml)	0.93 (0.30)
CRP (ng/ml)	1303.1 (995.0)
BDNF (pg/ml)	8088.9 (2979.9)
IGF-1 (ng/ml)	102.2 (24.6)

			+				
	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.
1. Predicted VO ₂ peak	-						
2. High- interference memory	01	-					
3. IL-6	32*	.20	-				
4. TNF-α	35**	08	.26*	-			
5. CRP	11	.16	.37**	.39**	-		
6. BDNF	.24	02	.07	.13	.13	-	
7. IGF-1	01	.04	44**	.15	07	12	-

M.Sc. Thesis - A. Bullock; McMaster University - Kinesiology

|--|

Note: Values are correlation coefficients. Partial correlations between cardiorespiratory fitness and memory, as well as between biomarkers and memory are controlling for age, sex, and years of education. Partial correlations between cardiorespiratory fitness and biomarkers, as well as between the biomarkers are controlling for age and sex. *p < .05, **p < .01.

	95% Confide	95% Confidence Interval			
Indirect Effect	Lower Limit	Upper Limit			
IL-6 (M_1), BDNF (M_2)	0008	.0010			
IL-6 (<i>M</i> ₁), IGF-1 (<i>M</i> ₂)	0019	.0064			
TNF- α (M_1), BDNF (M_2)	0019	.0010			
TNF- α (M_1), IGF-1 (M_2)	0015	.0008			
CRP (M_1) , BDNF (M_2)	0005	.0009			
CRP (<i>M</i> ₁), IGF-1 (<i>M</i> ₂)	0003	.0007			

 Table 4. Indirect effect of cardiorespiratory fitness on high-interference memory

Note: In all mediation models, cardiorespiratory fitness served as the independent variable (X), high-interference memory served as the dependent variable (Y), and age, sex, and years of education were included as covariates. For the 95% confidence intervals, bootstrap procedures utilizing 10,000 simulations were computed.

REFERENCES

- Aberg, M. A., Aberg, N. D., Hedbäcker, H., Oscarsson, J., & Eriksson, P. S. (2000). Peripheral infusion of IGF-I selectively induces neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(8), 2896–2903. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-08-02896.2000
- Amaral, D. G., & Witter, M. P. (1989). The Three Dimensional Organization of theHippocampal Formation: A Review of Anatomical Data. *Neuroscience*, *31*(3), 571–591.
- Andersson, K. M. E., Wasén, C., Juzokaite, L., Leifsdottir, L., Erlandsson, M. C., Silfverswärd,
 S. T., ... Bokarewa, M. I. (2018). Inflammation in the hippocampus affects IGF1 receptor signaling and contributes to neurological sequelae in rheumatoid arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(51), E12063–E12072. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1810553115
- Angevaren, M., Verhaar, H., Aufdemkampe, G., Aleman, A., Arens, K., & Vanhees, L. (2008).
 Physical activity and enhanced fitness to improve cognitive function in older people.
 Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (2). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd005381
- Arwert, L. I., Deijen, J. B., & Drent, M. L. (2005). The relation between insulin-like growth factor I levels and cognition in healthy elderly: A meta-analysis. *Growth Hormone and IGF Research*, 15(6), 416–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ghir.2005.09.001
- Bakker, A., Kirwan, C. B., Miller, M., & Stark, C. E. L. (2008). Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. *Science*, *319*(5870), 1640–1642. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1152882
- Barnes, D. E., & Yaff, K. (2011). The projected effect of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. *Lancet Neurology*, 10, 819–847. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474

Barrientos, R. M., Frank, M. G., Crysdale, N. Y., Chapman, T. R., Ahrendsen, J. T., Day, H. E.

W., ... Maier, S. F. (2011). Little Exercise, Big Effects: Reversing Aging and Infection-Induced Memory Deficits, and Underlying Processes. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(32), 11578–11586. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2266-11.2011

Becker, S. (2017). Neurogenesis and pattern separation: time for a divorce. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science*, 8(3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1427

Benau, E. M., Orloff, N. C., Janke, E. A., Serpell, L., & Timko, C. A. (2014). A systematic review of the effects of experimental fasting on cognition. *Appetite*, 77, 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.02.014

- Berchtold, N. C., Castello, N., & Cotman, C. W. (2010). Exercise and time-dependent benefits to learning and memory. *Neuroscience*, 167(3), 588–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.050
- Berg, U., & Bang, P. (2004). Exercise and circulating insulin-like growth factor I. Hormone Research in Paediatrics, 62(Suppl. 1), 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1159/000080759
- Bermudez, E. A., Rifai, N., Buring, J., Manson, J. A. E., & Ridker, P. M. (2002).
 Interrelationships among circulating interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, and traditional cardiovascular risk factors in women. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 22(10), 1668–1673. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000029781.31325.66
- Bettcher, B. M., Wilheim, R., Rigby, T., Green, R., Miller, J. W., Racine, C. A., ... Kramer, J. H. (2012). C-reactive protein is related to memory and medial temporal brain volume in older adults. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 26(1), 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2011.07.240

Beydoun, M. A., Beydoun, H. A., Gamaldo, A. A., Teel, A., Zonderman, A. B., & Wang, Y. (2014). Epidemiologic studies of modifiable factors associated with cognition and

dementia: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-643

- Blondell, S. J., Hammersley-Mather, R., & Veerman, J. L. (2014). Does physical activity prevent cognitive decline and dementia?: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 510. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-510
- Boldrini, M., Fulmore, C. A., Tartt, A. N., Simeon, L. R., Pavlova, I., Poposka, V., ... Mann, J. J. (2018). Human Hippocampal Neurogenesis Persists throughout Aging. *Cell Stem Cell*, 22(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.03.015
- Bullock, A. M., Mizzi, A. L., Kovacevic, A., & Heisz, J. J. (2018). The association of aging and aerobic fitness with memory. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 10, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00063
- Burgess, N., Maguire, E. A., & O'Keefe, J. (2002). The human hippocampus and spatial and episodic memory. *Neuron*, *35*(4), 625–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00830-9
- Calabrese, F., Rossetti, A. C., Racagni, G., Gass, P., Riva, M. A., & Molteni, R. (2014). Brainderived neurotrophic factor: a bridge between inflammation and neuroplasticity. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00430
- Cappola, A. R., Xue, Q. L., Ferrucci, L., Guralnik, J. M., Volpato, S., & Fried, L. P. (2003).
 Insulin-like growth factor I and interleukin-6 contribute synergistically to disability and mortality in older women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 88(5), 2019–2025. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-021694
- Cappon, J., Brasel, J. A., Mohan, S., & Cooper, D. M. (1994). Effect of brief exercise on circulating insulin-like growth factor I. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 76(6), 2490–2496. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1994.76.6.2490

- Carro, E., Nuñez, A., Busiguina, S., & Torres-Aleman, I. (2000). Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates effects of exercise on the brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(8), 2926– 2933.
- Carson, N., Leach, L., & Murphy, K. J. (2018). A re-examination of Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) cutoff scores. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 33(2), 379–388. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4756
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical Activity, Exercise, and Physical Fitness: Definitions and Distinctions for Health-Related Research Synopsis. *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), 126–131.
- Chen, J., Buchanan, J. B., Sparkman, N. L., Godbout, J. P., Freund, G. G., & Johnson, R. W. (2008). Neuroinflammation and disruption in working memory in aged mice after acute stimulation of the peripheral innate immune system. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 22(3), 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.08.014
- Cherry, J. D., Olschowka, J. A., & O'Banion, M. K. (2014). Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: The good, the bad, and the inflamed. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-11-98
- Cho, H. C., Kim, J., Kim, S., Son, Y. H., Lee, N., & Jung, S. H. (2012). The concentrations of serum, plasma and platelet BDNF are all increased by treadmill VO 2max performance in healthy college men. *Neuroscience Letters*, *519*(1), 78–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2012.05.025
- Clark, I. B., Vandermorris, S., & Heisz, J. J. (2015). Physical Fitness and Sociocognitive Engagement are Associated with Different Aspects of Cognition in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(1), 177–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13215

- Clelland, C. D., Choi, M., Romberg, C., Clemenson Jr., G. D., Fragniere, A., Tyers, P., ...
 Bussey, T. J. (2009). A Functional Role for Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Spatial
 Pattern Separation. *Science*, *325*(5937), 210–213.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1173215.A
- Colcombe, S. J., & Kramer, A. F. (2003). Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults. *Psychological Science*, *14*(2), 125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.t01-1-01430
- Colcombe, S. J., Kramer, A. F., Erickson, K. I., Scalf, P., McAuley, E., Cohen, N. J., ... Elavsky,
 S. (2004). Cardiovascular fitness, cortical plasticity, and aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(9), 3316–3321. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0400266101
- Correia, P. R., Scorza, F. A., Da Silva, S. G., Pansani, A., Toscano-Silva, M., De Almeida, A. C., & Arida, R. M. (2011). Increased basal plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in sprint runners. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, *27*(5), 325–329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-011-1531-5
- Cotman, C. W., Berchtold, N. C., & Christie, L. A. (2007). Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *30*(9), 464–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.06.011
- Creer, D. J., Romberg, C., Saksida, L. M., van Praag, H., & Bussey, T. J. (2010). Running enhances spatial pattern separation in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(5), 2367–2372. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0911725107
- Currie, J., Ramsbottom, R., Ludlow, H., Nevill, A., & Gilder, M. (2009). Cardio-respiratory fitness, habitual physical activity and serum brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in

men and women. *Neuroscience Letters*, *451*(2), 152–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEULET.2008.12.043

- D'Mello, C., Le, T., & Swain, M. G. (2009). Cerebral Microglia Recruit Monocytes into the Brain in Response to Tumor Necrosis Factor Signaling during Peripheral Organ Inflammation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(7), 2089–2102. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3567-08.2009
- De Benedetti, F., Alonzi, T., Moretta, A., Lazzaro, D., Costa, P., Poli, V., ... Fattori, E. (1997).
 Interleukin 6 causes growth impairment in transgenic mice through a decrease in insulinlike growth factor-I. A model for stunted growth in children with chronic inflammation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99(4), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119207
- Déry, N., Pilgrim, M., Gibala, M., Gillen, J., Wojtowicz, J. M., MacQueen, G., ... Becker, S. (2013). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis reduces memory interference in humans:
 Opposing effects of aerobic exercise and depression. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00066
- Desai, A. K., Grossberg, G. T., & Chibnall, J. T. (2010). Healthy Brain Aging: A Road Map. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*, *26*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2009.12.002
- Di Benedetto, S., Müller, L., Wenger, E., Düzel, S., & Pawelec, G. (2017). Contribution of neuroinflammation and immunity to brain aging and the mitigating effects of physical and cognitive interventions. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.044
- Dik, M. G., Jonker, C., Comijs, H. C., Deeg, D. J. H., Kok, A., Yaffe, K., & Penninx, B. W.
 (2007). Contribution of metabolic syndrome components to cognition in older individuals. *Diabetes Care*, 30(10), 2655–2660. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-1190

- Ding, Q., Vaynman, S., Akhavan, M., Ying, Z., & Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2006). Insulin-like growth factor I interfaces with brain-derived neurotrophic factor-mediated synaptic plasticity to modulate aspects of exercise-induced cognitive function. *Neuroscience*, 140(3), 823–833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.02.084
- Dinoff, A., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, C. S., Sherman, C., Chan, S., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2016). The Effect of Exercise Training on Resting Concentrations of Peripheral Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF): A Meta-Analysis. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(9), e0163037. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163037
- Dougherty, R. J., Boots, E. A., Lindheimer, J. B., Stegner, A. J., Van Riper, S., Edwards, D. F.,
 ... Cook, D. B. (2019). Fitness, independent of physical activity is associated with cerebral blood flow in adults at risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-019-00068-w
- Dougherty, R. J., Schultz, S. A., Boots, E. A., Ellingson, L. D., Meyer, J. D., Van Riper, S., ...
 Cook, D. B. (2017). Relationships between cardiorespiratory fitness, hippocampal volume, and episodic memory in a population at risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.625
- Du Clos, T. W. (2000). Function of C-reactive protein. Annals of Medicine, 32(4), 274–278.
- Duggal, N. A., Pollock, R. D., Lazarus, N. R., Harridge, S., & Lord, J. M. (2018). Major features of immunesenescence, including reduced thymic output, are ameliorated by high levels of physical activity in adulthood. *Aging Cell*, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12750
- Effros, R. B. (2007). Role of T lymphocyte replicative senescence in vaccine efficacy. *Vaccine*, 25(4), 599–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.08.032

Ekdahl, C. T., Claasen, J.-H., Bonde, S., Kokaia, Z., & Lindvall, O. (2003). Inflammation is

detrimental for neurogenesis in adult brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(23), 13632–13637. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2234031100

- Erickson, K. I., Prakash, R. S., Voss, M. W., Chaddock, L., Heo, S., Mclaren, M., ... Kramer, A.
 F. (2010). Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Is Associated with Age-Related Decline in
 Hippocampal Volume. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(15), 5368–5375.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6251-09.2010
- Erickson, K. I., Prakash, R. S., Voss, M. W., Chaddock, L., Hu, L., Morris, K. S., ... Kramer, A.
 F. (2009). Aerobic Fitness is Associated with Hippocampal Volume in Elderly Humans. *Hippocampus*, *19*(10), 1030–1039. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20547
- Erickson, K. I., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Basak, C., Szabo, A., Chaddock, L., ... Kramer, A.
 F. (2011). Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(7), 3017–3022. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1015950108
- Eriksson, P. S., Perfilieva, E., Björk-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A. M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D. A., & Gage, F. H. (1998). Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nature Medicine*, 4(11), 1313–1317. https://doi.org/10.1038/3305
- Etnier, J. L., Drollette, E. S., & Slutsky, A. B. (2018). Physical activity and cognition: A narrative review of the evidence for older adults. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 42, 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.12.006
- Etnier, J. L., Nowell, P. M., Landers, D. M., & Sibley, B. A. (2006). A meta-regression to examine the relationship between aerobic fitness and cognitive performance. *Brain Research Reviews*, 52(1), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.01.002

- Fenstermaker, K. L., Plowman, S. A., & Looney, M. A. (1992). Validation of the rockport fitness walking test in females 65 years and older. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 63(3), 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1992.10608749
- Fernandez, A. M., & Torres-Alemán, I. (2012). The many faces of insulin-like peptide signalling in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(4), 225–239. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3209

Finnegan, R., & Becker, S. (2015). Neurogenesis paradoxically decreases both pattern separation and memory interference. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 136. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00136

- Flöel, A., Ruscheweyh, R., Krüger, K., Willemer, C., Winter, B., Völker, K., ... Knecht, S. (2010). Physical activity and memory functions: Are neurotrophins and cerebral gray matter volume the missing link? *NeuroImage*, 49(3), 2756–2763. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.043
- Franceschi, C., Bonafè, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E., & De Benedictis, G. (2000). Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 908, 244–254.
- Freitas, D. A., Rocha-Vieira, E., Soares, B. A., Nonato, L. F., Fonseca, S. R., Martins, J. B., ...
 Leite, H. R. (2018). High intensity interval training modulates hippocampal oxidative stress,
 BDNF and inflammatory mediators in rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, *184*, 6–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2017.10.027
- Freudenberger, P., Petrovic, K., Sen, A., Töglhofer, A. M., Fixa, A., Hofer, E., ... Schmidt, H. (2016). Fitness and cognition in the elderly. *Neurology*, 86(5), 418–424. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.00000000002329

Ghisletta, P., Bickel, J.-F., & Lövdén, M. (2006). Does activity engagement protect against

cognitive decline in old age? Methodological and analytical considerations. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *61*(5), 253–261.

- Gilbert, P. E., Kesner, R. P., & Lee, I. (2001). Dissociating hippocampal subregions: A double dissociation between dentate gyrus and CA1. *Hippocampus*, *11*(6), 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.1077
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N. C., Stensel, D. J., Lindley, M. R., Mastana, S. S., & Nimmo, M. A. (2011). The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise: Mechanisms and implications for the prevention and treatment of disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *11*(9), 607–610. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3041
- Godbout, J. P., Chen, J., Abraham, J., Richwine, A. F., Berg, B. M., Kelley, K. W., & Johnson,
 R. W. (2005). Exaggerated neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in aged mice
 following activation of the peripheral innate immune system. *The FASEB Journal*, *19*(10),
 1329–1331. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-3776fje
- Goldeck, D., Witkowski, J. M., Fülop, T., & Pawelec, G. (2016). Peripheral Immune Signatures in Alzheimer Disease. *Current Alzheimer Research*, *13*(7), 739–749.
- Gruver, A. L., Hudson, L. L., & Sempowski, G. D. (2007). Immunosenescence of ageing. Journal of Pathology, 211(2), 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2104
- Guan, Z., & Fang, J. (2006). Peripheral immune activation by lipopolysaccharide decreases neurotrophins in the cortex and hippocampus in rats. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 20(1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2005.04.005
- Harada, C. N., Natelson Love, M. C., & Triebel, K. L. (2013). Normal Cognitive Aging. *Clinical Geriatric Medicine*, *29*(4), 737–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2013.07.002

Haydar, Z. R., Blackman, M. R., Tobin, J. D., Wright, J. G., & Fleg, J. L. (2000). The

Relationship Between Aerobic Exercise Capacity and Circulating IGF-1 Levels In Healthy Men and Women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *48*(2), 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2000.tb03904.x

- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis:A Regression-based Approach (2nd ed.). Guilford Publications.
- Heisz, J. J., Clark, I. B., Bonin, K., Paolucci, E. M., Michalski, B., Becker, S., & Fahnestock, M. (2017). The Effects of Physical Exercise and Cognitive Training on Memory and Neurotrophic Factors. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 29(11), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01164
- Hornum, M., Cooper, D. M., Brasel, J. A., Bueno, A., & Sietsema, K. E. (1997). Exerciseinduced changes in circulating growth factors with cyclic variation in plasma estradiol in women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *82*(6), 1946–1951. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1997.82.6.1946
- Huang, T., Larsen, K. T., Ried-Larsen, M., Møller, N. C., & Andersen, L. B. (2014, February 1). The effects of physical activity and exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy humans: A review. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111). https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12069
- Jack, C. R., Wiste, H. J., Vemuri, P., Weigand, S. D., Senjem, M. L., Zeng, G., ... Knopman, D. S. (2010). Brain beta-amyloid measures and magnetic resonance imaging atrophy both predict time-to-progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 133(11), 3336–3348. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq277
- Jankord, R., & Jemiolo, B. (2004). Influence of physical activity on serum IL-6 and IL-10 levels in healthy older men. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *36*(6), 960–964.

https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000128186.09416.18

- Jung, S. H., Kim, J., Davis, J. M., Blair, S. N., & Cho, H. (2011). Association among basal serum BDNF, cardiorespiratory fitness and cardiovascular disease risk factors in untrained healthy Korean men. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *111*(2), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1658-5
- Kalmijn, S., Janssen, J. a, Pols, H. a, Lamberts, S. W., & Breteler, M. M. (2000). A prospective study on circulating insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), IGF-binding proteins, and cognitive function in the elderly. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 85(12), 4551–4555. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.85.12.7033
- Kelly, P. J., Eisman, J. A., Stuart, M. C., Pocock, N. A., Sambrook, P. N., & Gwinn, T. H.
 (1990). Somatomedin-C, Physical Fitness, and Bone Density. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 70(3), 718–723. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-70-3-718
- Kesner, R. P., & Rolls, E. T. (2015). A computational theory of hippocampal function, and tests of the theory: New developments. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 48, 92–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.11.009
- Kirwan, C. B., & Stark, C. E. L. (2007). Overcoming interference: An fMRI investigation of pattern separation in the medial temporal lobe. *Learning and Memory*, 14(9), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.663507
- Kline, G. M., Porcari, J. P., Hintermeister, R., Freedson, P. S., Ward, A., McCarron, R. F., ... Rippe, J. M. (1987). Estimation of VO2 max from a one-mile track walk, gender, age, and body weight. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *3*, 253–259.
- Koo, J. W., & Duman, R. S. (2008). IL-1 is an essential mediator of the antineurogenic and anhedonic effects of stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United*

States of America, 105(2), 751–756. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0708092105

- Kostka, T., Patricot, M. C., Mathian, B., Lacour, J.-R., & Bonnefoy, M. (2003). Anabolic and catabolic hormonal responses to experimental two-set low-volume resistance exercise in sedentary and active elderly people. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 15(2), 123– 130. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03324489
- Kovacevic, A. (2017). *Investigating the effect of aerobic exercise on cognitive function in older adults*. McMaster University.
- Kramer, A. F., Hahn, S., Cohen, N. J., Banich, M. T., McAuley, E., Harrison, C. R., ...
 Colcombe, A. (1999). Ageing, fitness and neurocognitive function. *Nature*, 400(6743), 418–419. https://doi.org/10.1038/22682
- Kramer, J. H., Mungas, D., Reed, B. R., Wetzel, M. E., Burnett, M. M., Miller, B. L., ... Chui,
 H. C. (2007). Longitudinal MRI and Cognitive Change in Healthy Elderly. *Neuropsychology*, 21(4), 412–418. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.21.4.412.supp
- Kuhn, H. G., Dickinson-Anson, H., & Gage, F. H. (1996). Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(6), 2027–2033. https://doi.org/0270-6474
- Lacy, J. W., Yassa, M. A., Stark, S. M., Muftuler, L. T., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Distinct pattern separation related transfer functions in human CA3/dentate and CA1 revealed using highresolution fMRI and variable mnemonic similarity. *Learning and Memory*, 18(1), 15– 18. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1971111
- Leal, S. L., & Yassa, M. A. (2015). Neurocognitive Aging and the Hippocampus across Species. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 38(12), 800–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2015.10.003

Leng, S. X., Cappola, A. R., Andersen, R. E., Blackman, M. R., Koenig, K., Blair, M., &

Walston, J. D. (2004). Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S), and their relationships with serum interleukin-6, in the geriatric syndrome of frailty. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, *16*(2), 153–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03324545

- Leutgeb, J. K., Leutgeb, S., Moser, M.-B., & Moser, E. I. (2007). Pattern Separation in the Dentate Gyrus and CA3 of the Hippocampus. *Science*, *315*(5814), 961–966. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1135801
- Li, Y., Luikart, B. W., Birnbaum, S., Chen, J., Kwon, C. H., Kernie, S. G., ... Parada, L. F. (2008). TrkB Regulates Hippocampal Neurogenesis and Governs Sensitivity to Antidepressive Treatment. *Neuron*, 59(3), 399–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.06.023
- Lindsay, J., Laurin, D., Verreault, R., Hébert, R., Helliwell, B., Hill, G. B., & McDowell, I. (2002). Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: A prospective analysis from the Canadian Study of Health and Aging. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *156*(5), 445–453. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwf074
- Lövdén, M., Ghisletta, P., & Lindenberger, U. (2005). Social participation attenuates decline in perceptual speed in old and very old age. *Psychology and Aging*, 20(3), 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.20.3.423
- Maass, A., Duzel, S., Brigadski, T., Goerke, M., Becke, A., Sobieray, U., ... Düzel, E. (2016).
 Relationships of peripheral IGF-1, VEGF and BDNF levels to exercise-related changes in memory, hippocampal perfusion and volumes in older adults. *NeuroImage*, *131*, 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.084

Maass, A., Düzel, S., Goerke, M., Becke, A., Sobieray, U., Neumann, K., ... Düzel, E. (2015).

Vascular hippocampal plasticity after aerobic exercise in older adults. Molecular

Psychiatry, 20(5), 585-593. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2014.114

- Marioni, R. E., Stewart, M. C., Murray, G. D., Deary, I. J., Fowkes, F. G. R., Lowe, G. D. O., ...
 Price, J. F. (2009). Peripheral levels of fibrinogen, c-reactive protein, and plasma viscosity
 predict future cognitive decline in individuals without dementia. *Psychosomatic Medicine*,
 71(8), 901–906. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181b1e538
- Marsland, A. L., Gianaros, P. J., Kuan, D. C. H., Sheu, L. K., Krajina, K., & Manuck, S. B. (2015). Brain morphology links systemic inflammation to cognitive function in midlife adults. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 48, 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.015
- McAuley, E., Kramer, A. F., & Colcombe, S. J. (2004). Cardiovascular fitness and neurocognitive function in older Adults: A brief review. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 18(3), 214–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2003.12.007
- McAuley, E., Szabo, A. N., Mailey, E. L., Erickson, K. I., Voss, M., White, S. M., ... Kramer, A. F. (2011). Non-exercise estimated cardiorespiratory fitness: Associations with brain structure, cognition, and memory complaints in older adults. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 4(1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2011.01.001
- McCrory, M. A., Gomez, T. D., Bernauer, E. M., & Mole, P. A. (1995). Evaluation of a new air displacement plethysmograph for measuring human body composition. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 27(12), 1686–1691.
- McElhaney, J. E. (2005). The unmet need in the elderly: Designing new influenza vaccines for older adults. *Vaccine*, *23*, S10–S25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.04.019

McHugh, T. J., Jones, M. W., Quinn, J. J., Balthasar, N., Coppari, R., Elmquist, J. K., ...

Tonegawa, S. (2007). Dentate gyrus NMDA receptors mediate rapid pattern separation in the hippocampal network. *Science*, *317*(5834), 94–99. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1140263

- Miller, A. H., & Raison, C. L. (2016). The role of inflammation in depression: From evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 16(1), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Monje, M. L., Toda, H., & Palmer, T. D. (2003). Inflammatory Blockade Restores Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis. *Science*, 302(5651), 1760–1765. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1088417
- Monteiro-Junior, R. S., de Tarso Maciel-Pinheiro, P., da Matta Mello Portugal, E., da Silva
 Figueiredo, L. F., Terra, R., Carneiro, L. S. F., ... Laks, J. (2018). Effect of Exercise on
 Inflammatory Profile of Older Persons: Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 15(1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2016-0735
- Mooijaart, S. P., Sattar, N., Trompet, S., Lucke, J., Stott, D. J., Ford, I., ... de Craen, A. J. M. (2013). Circulating interleukin-6 concentration and cognitive decline in old age: The PROSPER study. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *274*(1), 77–85.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12052
- Myers, C. E., & Scharfman, H. E. (2011). Pattern separation in the dentate gyrus: A role for the CA3 backprojection. *Hippocampus*, *21*(11), 1190–1215. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20828
- Nakazawa, K., McHugh, T. J., Wilson, M. A., & Tonegawa, S. (2004). NMDA receptors, place cells and hippocampal spatial memory. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5(5), 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1385

Nakazawa, K., Quirk, M. C., Chitwood, R. A., Watanabe, M., Yeckel, M. F., Sun, L. D., ...

Tonegawa, S. (2002). Requirement for Hippocampal CA3 NMDA Receptors in Associative Memory Recall. *Science*, *297*(5579), 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1071795

- Nakazawa, K., Sun, L. D., Quirk, M. C., Rondi-Reig, L., Wilson, M. A., & Tonegawa, S. (2003). Hippocampal CA3 NMDA receptors are crucial for memory acquisition of one-time experience. *Neuron*, 38(2), 305–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00165-X
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695–699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Neeper, S. A., Góauctemez-Pinilla, F., Choi, J., & Cotman, C. (1995). Exercise and brain neurotrophins. *Nature*, 373(6510), 109–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/373109a0
- Nindl, B. C., & Pierce, J. R. (2010). Insulin-like growth factor I as a biomarker of health, fitness, and training status. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 42(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181b07c4d
- Nindl, B. C., Santtila, M., Vaara, J., Hakkinen, K., & Kyrolainen, H. (2011). Circulating IGF-I is associated with fitness and health outcomes in a population of 846 young healthy men. *Growth Hormone and IGF Research*, 21(3), 124–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ghir.2011.03.001
- Norden, D. M., Muccigrosso, M. M., & Godbout, J. P. (2015). Microglial priming and enhanced reactivity to secondary insult in aging, and traumatic CNS injury, and neurodegenerative disease. *Neuropharmacology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.10.028
- Northey, J. M., Cherbuin, N., Pumpa, K. L., Smee, D. J., & Rattray, B. (2018). Exercise interventions for cognitive function in adults older than 50: A systematic review with meta-

Analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52(3), 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-096587

- Nyberg, L., Lövdén, M., Riklund, K., Lindenberger, U., & Bäckman, L. (2012). Memory aging and brain maintenance. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 16(5), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2012.04.005
- Okereke, O., Kang, J. H., Ma, J., Hankinson, S. E., Pollak, M. N., & Grodstein, F. (2007).
 Plasma IGF-I levels and cognitive performance in older women. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 28(1), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.10.012
- Olsen, R. K., Moses, S. N., Riggs, L., & Ryan, J. D. (2012). The hippocampus supports multiple cognitive processes through relational binding and comparison. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00146
- Ownby, R. L. (2010). Neuroinflammation and cognitive aging. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *12*(1), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-009-0082-1
- Patterson, S. L. (2015). Immune dysregulation and cognitive vulnerability in the aging brain: Interactions of microglia, IL-1β, BDNF and synaptic plasticity. *Neuropharmacology*, 96, 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.12.020
- Paul, S. S., Tiedemann, A., Hassett, L. M., Ramsay, E., Kirkham, C., Chagpar, S., & Sherrington, C. (2015). Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 1(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2015
- Persson, J., Pudas, S., Lind, J., Kauppi, K., Nilsson, L. G., & Nyberg, L. (2012). Longitudinal structure-function correlates in elderly reveal MTL dysfunction with cognitive decline. *Cerebral Cortex*, 22(10), 2297–2304. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr306

- Poehlman, E. T., & Copeland, K. C. (1990). Influence of Physical Activity on Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I in Healthy Younger and Older Men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 71(6), 1468–1473. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-71-6-1468
- Quan, N., & Banks, W. A. (2007). Brain-immune communication pathways. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 21(6), 727–735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.05.005
- Rafnsson, S. B., Deary, I. J., Smith, F. B., Whiteman, M. C., Rumley, A., Lowe, G. D. O., & Fowkes, F. G. R. (2007). Cognitive decline and markers of inflammation and hemostasis: The Edinburgh artery study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 55(5), 700–707. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01158.x
- Rasmussen, P., Brassard, P., Adser, H., Pedersen, M. V., Leick, L., Hart, E., ... Pilegaard, H. (2009). Evidence for a release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor from the brain during exercise. *Experimental Physiology*, *94*(10), 1062–1069. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2009.048512
- Raz, N., Lindenberger, U., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., Head, D., Williamson, A., ... Acker, J. D. (2005). Regional brain changes in aging healthy adults: General trends, individual differences and modifiers. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(11), 1676–1689. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhi044
- Reinhardt, R. R., & Bondy, C. A. (1994). Insulin-like growth factors cross the blood-brain barrier. *Endocrinology*, 135(5), 1753–1761. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.135.5.7525251
- Rojas Vega, S., Strüder, H. K., Vera Wahrmann, B., Schmidt, A., Bloch, W., Hollmann, W., ...
 Hollmann, W. (2006). Acute BDNF and cortisol response to low intensity exercise and
 following ramp incremental exercise to exhaustion in humans. *Brain Research*, *1121*(1),
 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.08.105

- Rollero, A., Murialdo, G., Fonzi, S., Garrone, S., Gianelli, M. V., Gazzerro, E., ... Polleri, A. (1998). Relationship between Cognitive Function, Growth Hormone and Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Plasma Levels in Aged Subjects. *Neuropsychobiology*, *38*(2), 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1159/000026520
- Rosen, A. C., Prull, M. W., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Stoub, T., O'Hara, R., Friedman, L., ... DeToledo-Morrell, L. (2003). Differential Associations between Entorhinal and Hippocampal Volumes and Memory Performance in Older Adults. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *117*(6), 1150–1160. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.117.6.1150
- Salthouse, T. A. (2009). When does age-related cognitive decline begin? *Neurobiology of Aging*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.09.023
- Santos, R. V. T., Viana, V. A. R., Boscolo, R. A., Marques, V. G., Santana, M. G., Lira, F. S., ... de Mello, M. T. (2012). Moderate exercise training modulates cytokine profile and sleep in elderly people. *Cytokine*, 60(3), 731–735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2012.07.028
- Scarmeas, N., Zarahn, E., Anderson, K. E., Habeck, C. G., Hilton, J., Flynn, J., ... Stern, Y.
 (2003). Association of Life Activities With Cerebral Blood Flow in Alzheimer Disease.
 Archives of Neurology, 60(3), 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.60.3.359
- Scheinert, R. B., Asokan, A., Rani, A., Kumar, A., Foster, T. C., & Ormerod, B. K. (2015). Some hormone, cytokine and chemokine levels that change across lifespan vary by cognitive status in male Fischer 344 rats. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 49, 216–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.005
- Schmidt-Kassow, M., Schädle, S., Otterbein, S., Thiel, C., Doehring, A., Lötsch, J., & Kaiser, J. (2012). Kinetics of serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor following low-intensity versus high-intensity exercise in men and women. *NeuroReport*, 23(15), 889–893.

https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e32835946ca

Schwarz, A. J., Brasel, J. A., Hintz, R. L., Mohan, S., & Cooper, D. M. (1996). Acute effect of brief low- and high-intensity exercise on circulating insulin-like growth factor (IGF) I, II, and IGF-binding protein-3 and its proteolysis in young healthy men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 81(10), 3492–3497.

https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.81.10.8855791

- Siri, W. E. (1961). Body composition from fluid spaces and density: analysis of methods. In Techniques for Measuring Body Composition. National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council (pp. 223–224). Washington.
- Sleiman, S. F., & Chao, M. V. (2015). Downstream Consequences of Exercise Through the Action of BDNF. *Brain Plasticity*, *1*(1), 143–148. https://doi.org/10.3233/bpl-150017
- Small, B. J., Dixon, R. A., McArdle, J. J., & Grimm, K. J. (2012). Do changes in lifestyle engagement moderate cognitive decline in normal aging? Evidence from the victoria longitudinal study. *Neuropsychology*, 26(2), 144–155. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026579
- Smith, A. T., Clemmons, D. R., Underwood, L. E., Ben-Ezra, V., & McMurray, R. (1987). The effect of exercise on plasma somatomedin-C/insulinlike growth factor I concentrations. *Metabolism*, 36(6), 533–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(87)90162-4
- Smith, P. J., Blumenthal, J. A., Hoffman, B. M., Cooper, H., Strauman, T. A., Welsh-Bohmer, K., ... Sherwood, A. (2010). Aerobic exercise and neurocognitive performance: A metaanalytic review of randomized controlled trials. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 72(3), 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181d14633
- Snowden, M., Steinman, L., Mochan, K., Grodstein, F., Prohaska, T. R., Thurman, D. J., ... Anderson, L. A. (2011). Effect of exercise on cognitive performance in community-

dwelling older adults: Review of intervention trials and recommendations for public health practice and research. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *59*(4), 704–716. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03323.x

- Sofi, F., Valecchi, D., Bacci, D., Abbate, R., Gensini, G. F., Casini, A., & Macchi, C. (2011).
 Physical activity and risk of cognitive decline: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 269(1), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2010.02281.x
- Spalding, K. L., Bergmann, O., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Huttner, H. B., ... Frisén, J. (2013). Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. *Cell*, 153(6), 1219– 1227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.002
- Speisman, R. B., Kumar, A., Rani, A., Foster, T. C., & Ormerod, B. K. (2013). Daily exercise improves memory, stimulates hippocampal neurogenesis and modulates immune and neuroimmune cytokines in aging rats. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 28, 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2012.09.013
- Squire, L. R. (1992). Memory and the hippocampus: a synthesis from findings with rats, monkeys, and humans. *Psychological Review*, *99*(2), 195–231.
- Stark, S. M., Stevenson, R., Wu, C., Rutledge, S., & Stark, C. E. L. (2015). Stability of Age-Related Deficits in the Mnemonic Similarity Task Across Task Variations. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 129(3), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1037/bne0000055
- Stark, S. M., Yassa, M. A., Lacy, J. W., & Stark, C. E. L. (2013). A task to assess behavioral pattern separation (BPS) in humans: Data from healthy aging and mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(12), 2442–2449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.12.014

- Stein, A. M., Silva, T. M. V., Coelho, F. G. de M., Arantes, F. J., Costa, J. L. R., Teodoro, E., & Santos-Galduróz, R. F. (2018). Physical exercise, IGF-1 and cognition: A systematic review of experimental studies in the elderly. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, *12*(2), 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642018dn12-020003
- Stern, Y. (2009). Cognitive Reserve. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(10), 2015–2028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.03.004
- Suwabe, K., Byun, K., Hyodo, K., Reagh, Z. M., Roberts, J. M., Matsushita, A., ... Soya, H.
 (2018). Rapid stimulation of human dentate gyrus function with acute mild exercise. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(41), 10487–10492. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805668115
- Suwabe, K., Hyodo, K., Byun, K., Ochi, G., Fukuie, T., Shimizu, T., ... Soya, H. (2017). Aerobic fitness associates with mnemonic discrimination as a mediator of physical activity effects: evidence for memory flexibility in young adults. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 5140. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04850-y
- Suwabe, K., Hyodo, K., Byun, K., Ochi, G., Yassa, M. A., & Soya, H. (2017). Acute moderate exercise improves mnemonic discrimination in young adults. *Hippocampus*, 27(3), 229– 234. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22695
- Szuhany, K. L., Bugatti, M., & Otto, M. W. (2015). A meta-analytic review of the effects of exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 60(9), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.10.003
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. (5th ed.). Pearson.
- Tegeler, C., O'Sullivan, J. L., Bucholtz, N., Goldeck, D., Pawelec, G., Steinhagen-Thiessen, E.,& Demuth, I. (2016). The inflammatory markers CRP, IL-6, and IL-10 are associated with

cognitive function-data from the Berlin Aging Study II. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *38*, 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.10.039

- Toner, C. K., Pirogovsky, E., Kirwan, C. B., & Gilbert, P. E. (2009). Visual object pattern separation deficits in nondemented older adults. *Learning & Memory*, 16(5), 338–342. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1315109
- Tong, L., Balazs, R., Soiampornkul, R., Thangnipon, W., & Cotman, C. W. (2008). Interleukin-1beta impairs brain derived neurotrophic factor-induced signal transduction. *Neurobiology* of Aging, 29(9), 1380–1393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.02.027
- Trejo, J. L., Carro, E., & Torres-Aleman, I. (2001). Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates exercise-induced increases in the number of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(5), 1628–1634. https://doi.org/21/5/1628 [pii]
- Trejo, J. L., Piriz, J., Llorens-Martin, M. V, Fernandez, A. M., Bolós, M., LeRoith, D., ... Torres-Aleman, I. (2007). Central actions of liver-derived insulin-like growth factor I underlying its pro-cognitive effects. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *12*(12), 1118–1128. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4002076
- Treves, A., & Rolls, E. T. (1992). Computational constraints suggest the need for two distinct input systems to the hippocampal CA3 network. *Hippocampus*, 2(2), 189–199. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.450020209

Tulving, E. (1972). Episodic and Semantic Memory. In Organization of memory (pp. 381-403).

Vallières, L., Campbell, I. L., Gage, F. H., & Sawchenko, P. E. (2002). Reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in adult transgenic mice with chronic astrocytic production of interleukin-6. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(2), 486–492.

van Praag, H. (2005). Exercise Enhances Learning and Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Aged

Mice. Journal of Neuroscience, 25(38), 8680–8685.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-05.2005

- van Praag, H., Christie, B. R., Sejnowski, T. J., & Gage, F. H. (1999). Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(23), 13427–13431. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.23.13427
- Vargha-Khadem, F., Gadian, D. G., Watkins, K. E., Connelly, A., Van Paesschen, W., & Mishkin, M. (1997). Differential effects of early hippocampal pathology on episodic and semantic memory. *Science*, 277(5324), 376–380.
- Vaynman, S., Ying, Z., & Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2004). Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(10), 2580–2590. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03720.x
- Venters, H. D., Tang, Q., Liu, Q., VanHoy, R. W., Dantzer, R., & Kelley, K. W. (1999). A new mechanism of neurodegeneration: a proinflammatory cytokine inhibits receptor signaling by a survival peptide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(17), 9879–9884. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.17.9879
- Voss, M. W., Soto, C., Yoo, S., Sodoma, M., Vivar, C., & van Praag, H. (2019). Exercise and Hippocampal Memory Systems. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 23(4), 318–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.01.006
- Voss, M. W., Vivar, C., Kramer, A. F., & van Praag, H. (2013). Bridging animal and human models of exercise-induced brain plasticity. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(10), 525–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.08.001

Walsh, J. J., & Tschakovsky, M. E. (2018). Exercise and circulating BDNF: Mechanisms of

release and implications for the design of exercise interventions. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 43(11), 1095–1104. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0192

- Weaver, J. D., Huang, M.-H., Albert, M., Harris, T., Rowe, J. W., & Seeman, T. E. (2002). Interleukin-6 and risk of cognitive decline: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. *Neurology*, 59(3), 371–378. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.59.3.371
- Yaffe, K., Lindquist, K., Penninx, B. W., Simonsick, E. M., Pahor, M., Kritchevsky, S., ...
 Harris, T. (2003). Inflammatory markers and cognition in well-functioning African-American and white elders. *Neurology*, *61*(1), 76–80.
 https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000073620.42047.D7
- Yassa, M. A., Lacy, J. W., Stark, S. M., Albert, M. S., Gallagher, M., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Pattern separation deficits associated with increased hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus activity in nondemented older adults. *Hippocampus*, 21(9), 968–979. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20808
- Yassa, M. A., Mattfeld, A. T., Stark, S. M., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Age-related memory deficits linked to circuit-specific disruptions in the hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(21), 8873–8878. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1101567108
- Yassa, M. A., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Pattern separation in the hippocampus. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 34(10), 515–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.06.006
- Ye, S. M., & Johnson, R. W. (1999). Increased interleukin-6 expression by microglia from brain of aged mice. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 93(1–2), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00217-3

Young, J., Angevaren, M., Rusted, J., & Tabet, N. (2015). Aerobic exercise to improve cognitive

function in older people without known cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (4). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005381.pub4

Zoladz, J. A., Pilc, A., Majerczak, J., Grandys, M., Zapart-Bukowska, J., & Duda, K. (2008).
 Endurance training increases plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor concentration in young healthy men. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 59(Suppl 7), 119–132.